
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Cabinet

Members of the Cabinet of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned to attend a meeting to 
be held at the Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, Kent on Monday, 21 March 2022 at 
7.30pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 5 - 12)

3. To declare any interest members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what their 
interest is. 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public 

5. Delegated Decisions - Cabinet Members 
To report any decisions made by Cabinet Members under their delegated 
powers.

6. The Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund (SHDF) Wave 1 funding award (Pages 13 - 16)

7. Procurement of DSO Building Management Contracts (Pages 17 - 28)

8. LGA Peer Challenge - Action Plan Update (Pages 29 - 48)



9. Development of the Corporate Risk Register 2022-2023 (Pages 49 - 98)

10.Support for energy bills - the Council Tax Rebate 2022/2023 (Pages 99 - 
104)

11.Minutes of meeting of Climate Change Advisory Board (Pages 105 - 
112)

12.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

13.Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B
Items likely to be considered in Private

14.Rosherville Business Plan 2022-25 (Pages 113 - 
134)

15.Establishment of Rosherville Repairs & Maintenance Local Authority 
Trading Company 

(Pages 135 - 
186)

16.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

Members

Cllr John Burden (Chair)
Cllr Lee Croxton (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Shane Mochrie-Cox
Lenny Rolles
Lauren Sullivan
Narinderjit Singh Thandi
Jenny Wallace



1

Cabinet

Monday, 21 February 2022 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr John Burden (Chair)
Cllr Lee Croxton (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Shane Mochrie-Cox
Lenny Rolles 
Lauren Sullivan 
Narinderjit Singh Thandi 
Jenny Wallace

Note: Cllr Ejaz Aslam, Dakota Dibben, Gary Harding, Baljit Hayre, 
Leslie Hills, Bob Lane, Jordan Meade and Diane Morton were also in 
attendance.

Stuart Bobby Chief Executive
Nick Brown Director (Environment) & Deputy Chief Executive
Melanie Norris Director (Communities)
Daniel Killian Director (Housing)
Julie Francis-Beard Committee Services Officer (Minutes)

15. Apologies for absence 

No apologies for absence were received.

16. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting 

The minutes of the meeting held on Monday 31 January 2022 were signed by the Chair.

17. Delegated Decisions - Cabinet Members 

No decisions other than those already circulated had been made.

18. Minutes of meeting of Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee from 20 January 
2022 

The Cabinet were presented with the minutes of the Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committee 
held on Thursday, 20 January 2022. 

The minutes were noted.  

19. Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Three 2021-22 

The Chief Executive provided Cabinet with an update on the Performance Management 
Framework, as introduced within the council’s Corporate Plan, for Quarter Three 2021-22 
(October to December 2021).  

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



CABINET 21.02.2022

2

The Cabinet Members highlighted some of their Performance Indicators:

Cllr L Rolles informed Cabinet that PI47 would be updated in time for the Commercial 
Services Cabinet Committee. 

Cllr L Rolles reported that PI54 had increased, which was good news and was aware of a 
few schemes that are run by the council to get more younger people into employment. 

Cllr Mochrie-Cox explained that PI13, the number of environmental enforcement actions 
taken, was a continuing trend of 84 despite holding 2 vacancies during this period. This work 
will continue and will give out a clear message that the council will take action and will 
enforce notices and have successful prosecutions. 

Cllr Mochrie-Cox reported that although PI42 was slightly down from the first quarter, 
attendance in Q3 had increased due to the pantomime. Due to Covid, performances had 
been severely affected but the council had recently seen a good upturn of numbers and 
hoped this trend would continue. 

Cllr Sullivan informed Cabinet that the number of net additional homes had increased and 
affordable homes delivered had doubled since last year. Resident unemployment had fallen 
in Q3.  An increase of active businesses increased and by the increase of business 
breakfasts, brunch and dinners there is a very strong, vibrant business network in the 
borough. Issuing the Covid funds to businesses from the Government had been well 
received. 

Cllr Croxton highlighted that the council is getting closer to 45% and is striving to achieve 
50% of recycled waste. The percentage had gone down slightly and that was linked to the 
residual waste. With Covid there was significantly more waste but the council is still manging 
comfortably at 43,44,45 % of recycled waste but more education is required. With the use of 
bin hangers, the council is encouraging residents to keep all their waste within one bin over 
the two-week period. The council had struggled with the % of unacceptable levels of littering 
but looking around the town centre and discussing with residents these areas are now 
looking much cleaner. The council employed another 6 posts and cleaning is now covered, 
within the town centre, 7 days a week from 7am – 6pm across the town centre.   

Cllr Thandi explained that during the pandemic, housing benefits were being distributed to 
residents much quicker than nationally.  

The Leader highlighted that Q3 had a good level of performance especially coming out of 
Covid and the council will keep challenging and pushing forward.

The Cabinet noted the information contained within the report.

20. Update on GBC response to the COVID-19 Pandemic 

The Chief Executive provided Cabinet with an update on the activities of various council 
departments in the continued response to the COVID-19 pandemic since the last update in 
March 2021.  

The Chief Executive guided Members through the report and highlighted the following key 
points:

Page 4



CABINET 21.02.2022

3

 The overall financial support administered by the Council for local residents and 
businesses over the past year was just under £11m.  

 The Woodville became a vaccination centre for the borough and over 104,000 
vaccines were delivered.

 The council continued to support the NHS Test and Trace service in contacting over 
600 cases who had tested positive and many of which required detailed record 
checks, door knocks and follow up calls to ascertain specific information. 

 Procured and started running the Rough Sleeping Service which meant more 
overnight sleepers were taken off the streets. 

The Leader thanked the Chief Executive and Officers for a detailed report. Covid has not 
gone away but we are going to have to learn to live with it. The report indicated that the 
council allocated a significant amount of government funds to residents and businesses 
within Gravesham. This report does not reflect the amount of time and effort that Officers 
have had to do on top of their day job and trying to keep within budget. 

Following questions and comments from Members, the Chief Executive explained that:

 The rebate of £150 for Council Taxpayers living in Band A-D will not be easy to 
administer based on the limited amount of information received to date regarding the 
scheme. The expectation will be a direct payment made by Gravesham to all our 
council taxpayers in Band A-D on a day to be determined using bank details held for 
them. There are 34,000 A-D Band properties in the borough and only 14,000 of these 
pay by direct debit so the council holds their bank details. Once the information has 
been received from Government, the council will need to obtain 20,000 bank details 
from residents before the payment can be actually paid out. Nationally, this could 
introduce a significant fraud risk obtaining bank details and setting up a portal to 
administer this payment. The council and other local authorities / partners will 
experience a number of challenges including data protection information to overcome 
this, but more information will be received next week. 

 The New Burdens funding could meet the costs of additional staff writing to residents 
to obtain the relevant information. The council currently does not know the quantum 
and so is unable to quantify what these costs will be. 

 A portal will need to be developed for these repayments. It is unsure if each authority 
will need to develop this portal or whether it will be a Kent wide or national portal.  

 As it stands at present, any resident living in a Band A-D property on the designated 
date will receive that payment even if they move out the next day which will mean the 
new resident will not receive the payment. 

 Payments will be made to the named person on the council tax system. For example, 
for student accommodation the payment will go direct to the landlords not the 
students direct where rent is paid inclusive of Council Tax. Those occupants would 
not have an opportunity to claim the £150 but would have to liaise with their landlord.  

The Leader thanked all the Officers involved and the council is appreciative of what they 
have done and will be doing. 

The Cabinet were asked to note the updates provided in the report.

Page 5



CABINET 21.02.2022

4

21. Cessation of the Revenues & Benefits Shared Management Arrangements 

The Chief Executive provided Cabinet with information on the cessation of the Shared 
Management Arrangement with Medway Council for the Revenues and Benefits service.  

Since October 2019 Gravesham Borough Council and Medway Council have operated a 
shared management arrangement in relation to the Revenues and Benefits services at both 
authorities. 

In practice, this has taken the form of a shared Head of Revenues and Benefits and a shared 
Revenues Manager, both employed by Medway Council and shared 50:50 between the two 
authorities.

A review was undertaken in January 2022 and taking into account a number of challenges 
and the introduction of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS) and Low Income Family 
Tracker (LIFT), Medway Council formally served notice to cease the shared management 
arrangement from the end of March 2022. 

It is therefore intended to put in place a new management structure for Revenues & Benefits 
at Gravesham from 1 April 2022. The proposed arrangements are set out below: 

 Re-introduction of a Service Manager (Revenues and Benefits) to manage the 
Revenues and Benefits Service. 

 Re-evaluation of the Assistant Manager (Revenues and Benefits) post to take into 
account the responsibilities of the post holder in respect of the Revenues Team.

The Cabinet noted and agreed with the report.

22. KCC Kent Homeless Connect Service 

The Director (Housing) informed Cabinet of a decision recently taken by Kent County 
Council to allow the Kent Homeless Connect contract, which provides specialist housing and 
support to vulnerable people and households, to come to its natural end in September 2022 
and to outline the impact this decision is likely to have locally. 

This will involve the removal of £5m funding from their budgets. 

The current Kent Homeless Connect contract was established in 2019 by Kent County 
Council (KCC) to provide support to vulnerable adults at risk of becoming homeless or 
experiencing homelessness within Kent with complex needs such as mental health issues, 
struggling alcohol abuse and known difficulties. 

If left unsupported by KCC, it would place a burden on other support services offered by 
KCC such as Specialist Children's Services, Adult Mental Health, and Safeguarding if no 
such service existed. In addition to this, other public agencies such as NHS, Probation 
Services, Community Safety, Public Health, etc. would also see additional burdens. 

The current contract to set to come to an end in September 2022 and with no option to 
extend it. Throughout 2021, Gravesham Officers formed part of the working group 
established by KCC to create tender documents to re-procure the service.  However, 
following some announcements from Government in late December 2021 KCC announced 

Page 6



CABINET 21.02.2022

5

they would need to make savings of £5m which would be taken from the budget and would 
not be replacing the Kent Homeless Connect contract. 

Current services are delivered by two partners, Look Ahead and Porchlight. These agencies 
provide a significant amount of support in our borough most notably supported 
accommodation. We currently have 14 single people in supported accommodation and at 
this point it is unclear what the transitional arrangement will be put in place by KCC. 

The removal of this service will leave a significant gap in the service provision, and it is likely 
to increase the number of people sleeping rough on our streets with complex health issues. 

It is estimated the public sector will incur costs of £8m per year with the removal of this 
service. 

KCC did not consult on its decision to cease the Kent Homeless Connect contact. Despite 
deciding to cut the funding, KCC have not yet undertaken a quality impact assessment or 
given its rationale to cut this service above the many other providers. They have not set out 
how they intend to mitigate the burden they highlighted in other services area in the original 
report. 

The decision to remove the £5m was formalised by KCC at their budget setting meeting 
earlier this month and they now intend to complete risk assessments and quality impact 
assessments relating to the decision before the end of the contract. 

The Director (Housing) is seeking Cabinet approval to agree to form a working group to 
engage with the current providers over the coming months to fully understand the impact.

The Leader thanked the Director (Housing) and Officers for a detailed report, but this is not 
good news for Gravesham. Gravesham found out about these changes at 5pm on New 
Year’s Eve and Officers working within the Kent Homeless Connect Service were unaware.  
No District Leader, within Kent, supports this change. There has been a lack of consultation 
and understanding for residents throughout Kent.  

As a borough we have a duty to the homeless, unfortunately we do not have the budget or 
resources for all the social services aspects. Kent have a legal duty to people under 25 
where there are complex needs and vulnerabilities but Gravesham are not equipped to deal 
with the necessary support for people with acute mental health and dependency issues, that 
is Kent’s role. This service will be phased out from September onwards and the council 
hopes that a way forward will be found.  

The Leader informed the Cabinet that Kent had not yet considered the environmental and 
equality impact and had not completed a risk assessment. The Leader hopes that people in 
Kent will not suffer with the service being cut. 

Following questions and comments from Members, the following was discussed:

 Members of the Cabinet expressed their anger and dismay at the decision being 
made by KCC and the fact that no equality and impact assessment had been 
undertaken. 

 Members asked whether other agencies could provide a joint and cohesive response 
to work together in partnership rather than only one unitary authority in Kent. The 
Director (Housing) explained the council was going to ask for an impact assessment 

Page 7



CABINET 21.02.2022

6

to be completed and the third sector partnership to continue to protect the service 
without any additional cost to the council. 

 In the report from 2017, there was a recognition of duplication and gaps in the 
service but no recommendation that there could be a better service or a retender of 
the service.  

 The Leader felt that a judicial review of the decision was unlikely. 
 Members said they hoped Kent Leaders would respond and if the point could be 

made to local residents as to where the decision was made. 
 The decision to cease this service will hit the most vulnerable people sleeping on the 

streets, with nowhere to go.   

The council has a duty to the homeless and the council will do their duty as this group of 
people are the most vulnerable, but Kent also has a duty to fulfil to protect and safeguard 
them and hopefully move them back into normal society. There needs to be a way of solving 
this, the Government will need to be involved. 

Cabinet noted the KCC decision and agreed to form a working group to engage with
the current providers over the coming months to fully understand the impact locally
and explore the potential of protecting the current service provision through alternative
ways of working outside of Gravesham Borough Council funding.

23. Queens Platinum Jubilee Celebrations 

The Director (Communities) provided the Committee with an update on the events that will 
take place to mark the occasion of the Queens Platinum Jubilee.

In 2022, her Majesty the Queen has become the first British Monarch to celebrate a Platinum 
Jubilee, marking seventy years of service to the country. 

As part of those celebrations, there will be year-long Platinum Jubilee celebrations planned 
and there is an extended bank holiday, from Thursday 2 to Sunday 5 June.  It is an 
opportunity for communities and people to come together to celebrate.

Working in conjunction with the horticultural team and the housing directorate the Queen has 
asked that the country celebrates through the Queen’s Green Canopy which is encouraging 
organisations, businesses, voluntary groups and councils to create a network of trees that 
will help support the environment and fight the climate crisis.

As part of that the council has an extensive scheme for Woodlands Park including a sensory 
garden which will be the first sensory play equipment supplied by the council within the 
borough and that will replace the broken and unused crazy golf course in Woodlands Park. 

Planting of trees in Windmill Hill and the beacon will be replaced and reinstated with a flower 
bed around the base of the beacon along with new seating in that area and a tree will be 
planted at the top of Windmill Hill.

Further tree planting schemes will be at Istead Rise and Camer Park. 

Thousands of spring bulbs will be planted across the borough and in addition to what we 
have done during the Remembrance period the horticultural team will be spraying on 80 
crowns which will appear in greens spaces around the borough. 

Page 8



CABINET 21.02.2022

7

The council will also be working with Parish Councils and communities to plant trees at a 
location of their choice. We are also working with the Social Housing team to find suitable 
gardens in which to plant a tree.  

The council will host a large street party on 26 May on Community Square. Primary Schools 
will be invited and residents who were born in 1952 can apply to be invited.  The council will 
be taking part in the beacon lighting at Windmill Hill and will also light the mobile beacon at 
the Civic Centre. 

The town will be dressed with union flags and bunting as normal for St George’s Day and 
then further official Platinum Jubilee flags will go up in May. The Community Square will be 
decorated for the occasion. All planters and hanging baskets will have a red, white and blue 
theme and a local group, the community group of knitters will be knitting corgis and Queens 
and they will be left around the borough as little gifts for residents. 

There will be a month-long celebration at St George’s Arts Centre with a workshop where 
residents can learn how to make things for their own street parties. 

Members would like to pay tribute to the Queen’s long service on behalf of the borough. That 
length of service is commendable, and all these events will celebrate the occasion. 

The Leader and Members thanked the Officers for all their work developing the Queen’s 
Green Canopy it will be a real asset to the borough and will create useable space and will fit 
in with the council’s climate change activities. 

The Committee noted the report.  

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at.8.40 pm

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: Yes

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet 

Date: 21 March 2022

Reporting officer: Nicole Arthur, Service Manager (Housing Operations)

Subject: The Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund (SHDF) Wave 1 
funding award

Purpose and summary of report: 
To inform Cabinet of notification received confirming the award of grant funding for Social 
Housing Decarbonisation Fund (SHDF) Wave 1.

Recommendations:
1. Note the grant award notification and ratify the decision to accept the award taken by 

the Director (Housing), in consultation with the S.151 Officer. 
2. Approve the addition of the project to the 2022/23 capital programme, recognising that 

51% of the cost of the project is to be met from external funding and 49% funded by 
the Council.

Key Implications:
Item Implications
Legal The Decent Home Standard and Landlord and Tenant Act (1985) 

makes it clear that landlords are responsible for the maintenance 
and repair of their housing stock, ensuring they provide good 
quality housing fit for habitation.

Finance and Value for 
Money

GBC’s financial contribution will be taken form the Energy 
Efficiency budget (C940) of £1,888,650, already established for 
the 22/23 programme. The SHDF funding will increase the total 
budget provision to £2,771,987.
Aggregated buying power via Public Sector Frameworks delivers 
competitive pricing and value for money and the prospective 
contractor will need to outline what social value commitments they 
could bring to the Council if successful.

Corporate Plan People: Protected Environment - enforce high regulatory                   
requirements and carbon neutral borough. Quality Living - 
safeguard residents and putting our customers first.
Place: Connected Community - improve resident well-being
Progress:  Entrepreneurial Authority - deliver a more resilient, 
creative and cost effective council

Climate Change The project contributes to the Council’s Climate Change Strategy 
by:

(a) Reducing carbon emissions of our housing stock
(b) Reduction in energy consumption and fuel bills for our 

tenants

Page 11 Agenda Item 6



2

(c) Providing warmer energy efficient homes for our tenant

An outline of expected outcomes can be found at section 3 of the 
report.

1. Introduction

1.1 The SHDF Wave 1 was released by the Department of Business, Energy & 
Industrial Strategy (BEIS) on the 23 August 2021 and invited Registered Providers 
of social housing including Private and Local Authority, to apply for funding to be 
used to improve the energy performance of social housing.

1.2 The key rules for the use of funding are that eligible homes must be within EPC 
bands D, E, F and G, ensuring that priority is given to the worst energy performing 
homes. The aim is to raise the EPC ratings of these homes to band C, in 
preparation for the widespread adoption of decarbonised heating systems. Works 
should also meet the space heating requirement of 90kwh/m²/yr and justification 
should be provided for each property if this is not likely to be met. 

1.3 Support was provided to the Council by the Social Housing Retrofit Accelerator 
(SHRA), which is a fully funded support service backed by BEIS to help social

1.4 The council was notified on the 7 February 2022 by BEIS, that they were 
successful with their bid of £823,337.11, with Gravesham being only one of two 
councils in Kent, which were successful through the scheme.

1.5 The funding will contribute 51% towards the total project cost of £1,623,507.78 
with Gravesham contributing the remaining 49%, £800,170.67.

1.6 Project delivery timescales are set by BEIS and the initial completion date of 31st 

January 2023 has been extended to 31st March 2023, providing one year to 
procure a partner and deliver the project.

2. Feasibility and Proposal

2.1 The main criteria of the bidding process were that a “worst performing first”, ‘fabric 
first’ and ‘lowest regrets’ approach must be taken by bidders. The definitions of 
both these approaches were defined by BEIS as:

2.1.1 Worst Performing First- Properties with an EPC band D,E,F or G be 
tackled first, to ensure funding is targeted towards the worst performing 
homes within our housing stock. On completion of the improvement works, 
properties must reach an EPC band C, or and EPC band D where this is 
not possible.

2.1.2 Fabric First: A fabric first approach (of insulation and heat loss prevention 
measures) is required. This ensures that heat loss prevention measures 
are installed before other energy efficiency measures to maximise comfort 
and bill savings for the consumer, and to maximise the dwelling’s suitability 
for low carbon heating either now or in the future.

2.1.3 Lowest Regrets: The approach to retrofit taken should minimise the 
potential of measures installed through SHDF having to be replaced in the 
future on the journey to Net Zero for the social housing stock.

Page 12



3

2.2 Following the criteria of the funding, 364 properties with a range of EPC bandings 
D-F have been identified using our energy performance database software, Parity 
Portfolio. These properties will benefit from a range of fabric measures consisting 
of external wall insulation, double glazing, loft and cavity wall insulation. 

3. Expected Outcomes

3.1 The expected outcomes will see the delivery of warm, energy-efficient homes, a 
reduction in carbon emissions and a reduction in energy bills for our tenants. 
Carbon emissions.

3.2 Following the completion of the works it is expected that:

 10 properties will be improved to an EPC band B

 346 properties will be improved to an EPC band C 

 8 properties will be improved to an EPC band D

 60.71% of homes will meet the target space heat requirement of 90kwh/m²/yr 

with justification provided for homes that will not.

 The average annual bill saving for residents will be £183.72

 The total annual energy savings from the works will be 1,683,673 kWh

4. Budget

4.1 An Energy Efficiency budget (C940) of £1,888,650 has been established for the 
22/23 programme, supplemented by the SHDF grant funding that has been 
allocated to GBC to cover 50% of the project costs.

4.2 A total Capital budget of £1,623,507.78 is required to carry out the project 
identified for SHDF grant funding. To cover the costs of the project, the SHDF 
grant will contribute £823,337.11 with GBC contributing the remaining 
£800,170.67 from the Energy Efficiency budget (C940).

5. Appendices

5.1 There are no appendices. 

6. Background Documents 

6.1 There are no background documents.

Lead Officer: Nicole Arthur Service Manager (Housing Operations)

Email: nicole.arthur@gravesham.gov.uk

Page 13



4

Secondary Implications
Risk Assessment The use of procurement frameworks such as those developed by the SEC and LHC 

significantly reduces financial risk to the council. 
Assurances have been given by the proposed contractor that they will be able to 
deliver the project within budget and to timescale.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
No

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
Not applicable

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No 

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Crime and Disorder N/A

Digital and website 
implications

Grant funding award has been announced via GBC social media.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

Following GBC’s Safeguarding Policy “Protecting children and vulnerable adults”

Page 14

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


Classification: Public
Key Decision: Yes

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 21 March 2022 

Reporting officer: Nicole Arthur - Service Manager (Housing Operations)

Subject: Procurement of DSO Building Management Contracts

Purpose and summary of report: 
To inform Cabinet of the current position in relation to the contracts in place to maintain the 
Council’s housing stock which incorporates contracts for Major & Planned Works, Servicing & 
Maintenance and Net Carbon Zero Solutions. The report seeks approval for the use of the 
relevant frameworks to procure and award contracts in accordance with Gravesham's 
Procurement Strategy.

Recommendations:
1. The Director (Housing) in consultation with the S151 Officer and Lead Member be 

given delegated authority to conduct the procurement process and award the 
contracts for DSO Building Management using procurement frameworks by way of 
mini tender and direct award as outlined in the report.

Key Implications:
Item Implications
Legal Landlords have a statutory duty to maintain and repair property 

assets and to ensure leaseholder engagement throughout the 
procurement process.
Contracts will be secured through the pre-tendered frameworks 
which have been procured in accordance with domestic and 
European legislation

Finance and Value for 
Money

Budgets for all proposed contracts have been agreed within the 
HRA account and can be found at Appendix 2.
Aggregated buying power via the various Frameworks delivers 
competitive pricing and value for money

Corporate Plan PEOPLE: Protected Environment - Enforce high regulatory 
requirements
PEOPLE: Quality Living - Safeguard residents
PEOPLE: Quality Living - Put our customers first
PLACE: Connected Community - Improve resident well-being
PROGRESS:  Entrepreneurial authority - Deliver a more resilient, 
creative and cost effective council

Page 15 Agenda Item 7



2

PROGRESS: Strong Leadership - Sound financial management 
PROGRESS: Strong Leadership - Successfully manage key 
business risks

Climate Change The work to be undertaken contributes to the Council’s Climate 
Change Strategy by:

(a) Reducing carbon emissions of our housing stock
(b) Reduction in energy consumption and fuel bills for our 

tenants
(c) Providing warmer energy efficient homes for our tenants

1. Background 

1.1 As a landlord, Gravesham Borough Council has a statutory duty to ensure its 
housing stock is properly maintained, that equipment is serviced and that any 
responsive repairs are completed within a timely manner and it is essential that 
external service providers are in place to assist with the delivery of required 
works.   

1.2 The Councils current Procurement Strategy actively encourages the use of 
frameworks, which consist of a list of pre-approved suppliers for effective 
procurement arrangements via min-tender or direct award to deliver high quality 
services to our tenants.

1.3 The Joint Contracts Tribunal (JCT) suite of contracts are used between the 
employer and contractor to agree terms and conditions, control payment, 
disputes, insurance and extent of works, thus reducing the risk to any project.

2. Current Position

2.1 The following Major & Planned Works contracts procured via the South East 
Consortium (SEC) are due to expire on 31 March 2023:

2.1.1 Cyclical Decorating (Axis Europe)

2.1.2 Roofing Replacements (Breyer Group)

2.1.3 Wet Rooms & Level Access (Pilon)

2.2 The following Compliance & Projects contracts procured via the South East 
Consortium (SEC) are due to expire on 31 March 2023

2.2.1 Mobility Lifts (Apex Lifts)

2.2.2 Water Hygiene (H20 Nationwide Ltd)

2.2.3 Asbestos Surveys (Riverside)

2.2.4 Asbestos Removals (PA Group)

2.3 To meet the carbon reduction and energy efficiency HRA related commitments in 
the corporate Climate Delivery Action Plan and Housing Operations Carbon 

Page 16



3

Action Plan, the council requires two new contracts in place to deliver the relevant 
improvement measures to its housing stock:

2.3.1  Energy Efficiency Measures (Whole House Retrofit) - includes loft, cavity, 
external wall insulation and Solar PV)

2.3.2 Energy Efficiency Measures (Ground Source Heat Pumps) – Renewable 
energy and heating technology 

2.4 A list of current contracts with the relevant frameworks that are due to expire can 
be found in Appendix 2, along with the annual levels of anticipated capital spend, 
total contract value and duration of contract.

3. Procurement

3.1 As explained in Section 2 of this report and shown in Appendix 2, the existing 
seven contracts for the specified work areas will expire in 2023 and therefore 
need to be re-procured to ensure consistency in work programmes and value for 
money. 

3.2 In addition further two contracts need to be procured to progress with the 
Council’s journey and deliver reductions in carbon emissions, reduce fuel poverty 
and increase the energy efficiency of our properties, in line with our Housing 
Operations Carbon Action Plan, Climate Change Delivery Plan and the wider 
pledge by Gravesham Borough Council to tackle climate change.

3.3 Gravesham Borough Council has been an active member of the South East 
Consortium (SEC) and London Housing Consortium (LHC), both delivering a wide 
range of pre-tendered frameworks through collaborative procurement 
arrangements involving a number of public sector organisations. These have been 
procured in accordance with domestic and European legislation, from which the 
Council may legitimately appoint contractors to meet their operational needs.

3.4 The benefits of using the frameworks are as follows:

South East Consortium (SEC)

Our annual cost with SEC is 25p per property. For 2022-23 this cost will 
amount to £1,410 and allows us to procure as many contracts as 
necessary. 

 On completion of a procurement exercise SEC will charge 1.5% of the 
contract sum for the tender process. This cost is met by the successful 
contractor and not GBC.

London Housing Consortium (LHC)

 LHC are free to use and offer procurement and technical support as part of 
offerings at no charge.

 On completion of a procurement exercise LHC will charge 5% of the 
contract sum for the tender process. This cost is met by the successful 
contractor and not GBC.

 LHC members receive a % rebate if LHC make a surplus

Research by consortiums has highlighted that the average cost of a non–
framework procurement exercise is circa £20,000.

Page 17



4

3.5 The Public Services (Social Value) Act came into force on 31 January 2013. It 
requires those who commission public services to think about how they can also 
secure wider social, economic and environmental benefits. Prospective 
contractors will be asked as part of the tender process to outline what social value 
commitments they could bring to GBC if they are successful. 

4. Scope of Works & Awarding Contracts

4.1 The Asset Management Team are actively developing a scope of 
works/specifications for each area of work as outlined in Section 2 of this report, 
working closely with the respective frameworks to develop Procurement Project 
Plans which will help to identify the most suitable contractors for those works as 
set within specified lots within the available frameworks already referred to. 

4.2 When a contractor is identified from one of the pre-tendered lots, an initial 
expression of interest is made to ensure they are suitable and can undertake the 
works required at a competitive price.  At this point a mini-tender exercise or direct 
award will be conducted.  This is all managed by the framework provider in 
conjunction with council officers. 

4.3 Once this process has been completed and a contractor selected, Legal will draft 
contracts on behalf of the council to enter into a formal contract, which will be 
checked and verified by the Legal team.  The arrangements will then be confirmed 
by the Director (Housing) in conjunction with Director (Corporate Services), 
Monitoring Officer and Lead Member who will authorise the signing the contracts.  

4.4 To ensure competitiveness, contracts will be let for a set period, with possible 
extensions agreed annually based on satisfactory performance by the contractor 
via agreed Key Performance Indicators (KPI’s). This approach will facilitate 
proactive contract management and will help ensure that contractors perform well 
throughout the duration of their contract with the council. 

5. Tenants and leaseholders

5.1 In accordance with Section 20 of the Landlord and Tenant Act 1985, as amended 
by the Commonhold and Leasehold Reform Act 2002, landlords are required to 
give notice to leaseholders and recognised tenants’ associations of their intention 
to enter into ‘long term agreements’.  These are agreements entered into by or on 
behalf of a landlord for a term of more than 12 months and therefore officers will 
ensure that the required notice is given to leaseholders by the council as landlord 
in respect of the procurement contracts outlined in this report.

6. Appendices

6.1 The following documents are to be published with the report: 

6.1.1 Appendix 2 – Procurement Summary

7. Background Documents 

7.1 There are no background documents.

Lead Officer: Nicole Arthur Service Manager (Housing Operations)

Email: nicole.arthur@gravesham.gov.uk

Page 18



5

Page 19



6

Secondary Implications
Risk Assessment The use of procurement frameworks such as those developed by SEC and LHC 

significantly reduces risk to the council. In addition the GBC Procurement Strategy 
2017-2020 actively encourages the use of frameworks for procurement.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
No

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
Confirmed that successful contractors will be required to enter into a Data 
Sharing Agreement as part of the contract

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Crime and Disorder N/A

Digital and website 
implications

N/A

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

N/A

Page 20

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


Appendix 2 – Procurement Summary 

Cyclical Re-Decorations
(Planned & Major Works)

Cyclical repairs and decorations are the work required to 
maintain the general fabric of our properties, typically over 
a seven year cycle. This type of work includes: Chimney 
stack, fascia & soffits repairs, external painting etc.

Incumbent Contractor: Axis Europe

Contract Expiry: 31/03/2023

Proposed Consortium 
Framework:

South East Consortium (SEC)

Proposed Contract Duration: 01/04/2023 to 31/03/2027

Contract Term: Initial 2 years plus 2x 1 year extensions based on 
contractor performance

Contract Value: Annual: £750,000
Vat:£150,000
Total: £900,000

Total: £3,000,000
Vat: £600,000
Total inclusive of 
VAT:£3,600,000

Mini-Tender or Direct Award: Mini-Tender

Roofing
(Planned & Major Works)

Replacement programme of traditional and flat roofs 
within the housing stock.

Incumbent Contractor: Breyer Group PLC

Contract Expiry: 31/03/2023

Proposed Consortium 
Framework:

South East Consortium (SEC)

Proposed Contract Duration: 01/04/2023 to 31/03/2027

Contract Term: Initial 2 years plus 2x 1 year extensions based on 
contractor performance

Contract Value: Annual: £890,250
Vat:£178,050
Total: £1,068,300

Total: £3,561,000
Vat: £712,200
Total inclusive of 
VAT:£4,273,200

Mini-Tender or Direct Award: Mini-Tender

Page 21



Wet Rooms
(Planned & Major Works)

Incumbent Contractor: Pilon Ltd

Contract Expiry: 31/03/2023

Proposed Consortium 
Framework:

South East Consortium (SEC)

Proposed Contract Duration: 01/04/2023 to 31/03/2027

Contract Term: Initial 2 years plus 2x 1 year extensions based on 
contractor performance

Contract Value: Annual: £350,000
Vat:£70,000
Total: £420,000

Total: £1,400,000
Vat: £280,000
Total inclusive of 
VAT:£1,680,000

Mini-Tender or Direct Award: Mini-Tender

Mobility Lifts
(Compliance & Projects)

Servicing, repairs, maintenance and installations of stair 
lifts and through floor lifts within the housing stock.

Incumbent Contractor: Apex Lifts

Contract Expiry: 31/03/2023

Proposed Consortium 
Framework:

South East Consortium (SEC)

Proposed Contract Duration: 01/04/2023 to 31/03/2027

Contract Term: Initial 2 years plus 2x 1 year extensions based on 
contractor performance

Contract Value: Annual: £150,000
Vat:£30,000
Total: £180,000

Total: £600,000
Vat: £120,000
Total inclusive of 
VAT:£720,000

Mini-Tender or Direct Award: Mini-Tender

Page 22



Water Hygiene
(Compliance & Projects)

Planned and preventative water hygiene management 
and testing for Legionella to all shared water systems 
within the housing stock.

Incumbent Contractor: H20 Nationwide Ltd

Contract Expiry: 31/03/2023

Proposed Consortium 
Framework:

South East Consortium (SEC)

Proposed Contract Duration: 01/04/2023 to 31/03/2027

Contract Term: Initial 2 years plus 2x 1 year extensions based on 
contractor performance

Contract Value: Annual: £80,000
Vat:£16,000
Total: £96,000

Total: £320,000
Vat: £64,000
Total inclusive of 
VAT:£384,000

Mini-Tender or Direct Award: Mini-Tend

Asbestos Surveys
(Compliance & Projects)

Carry out surveys and re-inspections to individual 
properties and the common areas of residential blocks, to 
enable planned works and manage the risk of asbestos.

Incumbent Contractor: Riverside

Contract Expiry: 31/03/2023

Proposed Consortium 
Framework:

South East Consortium (SEC)

Proposed Contract Duration: 01/04/2023 to 31/03/2027

Contract Term: Initial 2 years plus 2x 1 year extensions based on 
contractor performance

Contract Value: Annual: £100,000 Total: £400,000

Page 23



Vat:£20,000
Total: £120,000

Vat: £80,000
Total inclusive of 
VAT:£480,000

Mini-Tender or Direct Award: Mini-Tender

Asbestos Removals
(Compliance & Projects)

Carry out removals of asbestos to individual properties 
and the common areas of residential blocks, to enable 
planned works and manage the risk of asbestos.

Incumbent Contractor: PA Group

Contract Expiry: 31/03/2023

Proposed Consortium 
Framework:

South East Consortium (SEC)

Proposed Contract Duration: 01/04/2023 to 31/03/2027

Contract Term: Initial 2 years plus 2x 1 year extensions based on 
contractor performance

Contract Value: Annual: £200,000
Vat:£40,000
Total: £240,000

Total: £800,000
Vat: £160,000
Total inclusive of 
VAT:£960,000

Mini-Tender or Direct Award: Mini-Tender

Energy Efficiency 
Measures (WHR)
(Compliance & Projects)

Carry out individual energy efficiency and Whole House 
Retrofit (WHR) measures, including loft, cavity, external 
wall insulation and Solar PV.

Incumbent Contractor: None 

Contract Expiry: N/A

Proposed Consortium 
Framework:

London Housing Consortium  (LHC)

Page 24



Proposed Contract Duration: 01/04/2023 to 31/03/2027

Contract Term: Initial 2 years plus 2x 1 year extensions based on 
contractor performance

Contract Value: Annual: £1,000,000
Vat:£200,000
Total: £1,200,000

Total: £4,000,000
Vat: £800,000
Total inclusive of 
VAT:£480,000

Mini-Tender or Direct Award: Direct Award

Energy Efficiency 
Measures (GSHP)
(Compliance & Projects)

Upgrade existing carbon fuel and inefficient heating within 
Sheltered Housing and blocks with renewable Ground 
Source Heat Pumps (GSHP) and associated works.

Incumbent Contractor: None 

Contract Expiry: N/A

Proposed Consortium 
Framework:

London Housing Consortium  (LHC)

Proposed Contract Duration: 01/04/2023 to 31/03/2027

Contract Term: Initial 2 years plus 2x 1 year extensions based on 
contractor performance

Contract Value: Annual: £800,000
Vat:£160,000
Total: £960,000

Total: £3,200,000
Vat: £640,000
Total inclusive of 
VAT:£3,840,000

Mini-Tender or Direct Award: Direct Award

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 21 March 2022

Reporting officer: Stuart Bobby, Chief Executive and Michelle Batstone, Corporate 
Change Manager

Subject: LGA Peer Challenge – Action Plan Update

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Members with an update against the recommendations made by the LGA as part 
of their review in October 2019 and the further recommendations made as part of the follow-
up review in March 2021.

Recommendations:
1. Members are asked to note the progress made in respect of the agreed action plan 

Key Implications:

Item Implications

Legal There is no legal requirement to undertake a Peer Challenge.

Finance and Value for 
Money

There may be a need for additional resources in order to complete 
specific actions resulting from the follow-up process and these will 
be addressed at the appropriate time as necessary.

Corporate Plan The Peer Challenge was a review of the council in its entirety and 
as such, has the potential to impact on the delivery of all 
objectives as set out in the council’s Corporate Plan.

Climate Change There are no specific climate change implications resulting from 
this report. However, completion of the recommendations relating 
to funding and flexible working will make a positive contribution to 
the council’s approach to climate change.

Page 27 Agenda Item 8



2

1. Introduction

1.1 Members will recall that in October 2019, the council welcomed a Peer Challenge 
Team from the LGA onsite in order for them to undertake a Corporate Peer 
Challenge of the council.  This was then followed-up with a further ‘virtual review’ 
undertaken by the LGA in March 2021.

1.2 As a result of the follow-up review, the Peer Challenge Team prepared a short 
report setting out their findings; the team reviewed progress against the actions 
resulting from the original review in October 2019 and also recommended a 
number of follow-up actions.

1.3 The Peer Challenge report and an action plan was reported to Cabinet in 
September 2021.  At this meeting it was agreed that a report be brought back to 
Cabinet in March 2022 to provide an update to Members on progress against the 
revised action plan.

2. LGA Peer Challenge Action Plan Update

2.1 Appendix one to the report provides Members with a copy of the action plan that 
was previously agreed, along with updates against each of the actions identified 
(22 in total – one action was signed off by the Peer Challenge Team in their follow 
up review).

2.2 The action plan sets out 10 recommendations, with 21 individual action points.  Of 
the actions set out:
2.2.1 Fifteen recommendations have been fully completed (71% of all actions).  

This includes (but is not limited to) ensuring a programme of away days for 
senior managers and Cabinet Members is in place, recruitment of a 
Funding Officer to ensure the council has a dedicated resource to identify 
potential grant/funding opportunities, developing relationships with the 
Kent Housing & Developers Group with a meeting of the group held at 
Gravesham and reviewing the council’s overall approach to risk 
management in conjunction with Zurich Municipal.

2.2.2 The remaining six action points (29%) are all due be completed by the end 
of the 2022 calendar year.  However, all outstanding actions are underway 
and five of these are due to be completed in the next two months.

2.3 Officers are continuing to work towards completion of the actions.  Moving 
forwards, the actions that are outstanding will be included within the operational 
business plans for the relevant departments and will form part of the department’s 
regular performance monitoring processes.  Officers will ensure that Members are 
kept abreast of these activities through the regular briefings with the Leader of the 
Executive and Cabinet Portfolio Holders.

3. Appendices

3.1 The following documents are to be published with the report: 
3.1.1 Appendix One - LGA Peer Challenge Action Plan Update – March 2022

Page 28



3

4. Background Documents 

4.1 The following background documents were used: 
4.1.1 Cabinet – 03 February 2020 - LGA Peer Challenge Report and Action Plan
4.1.2 Cabinet – 22 February 2021 - LGA Peer Challenge Action Plan Update 

and Follow-up Review
4.1.3 Cabinet – 07 September 2021 - LGA Peer Challenge - Follow-up report 

and updated action plan

Lead Officer: Michelle Batstone, Corporate Change Manager

Email: michelle.batstone@gravesham.gov.uk 

Page 29

mailto:michelle.batstone@gravesham.gov.uk


4

Secondary Implications

Risk Assessment There are no risks associated with the Peer Challenge follow-up process.  The 
follow-up review assessed the progress the council has made in addressing the 
recommendations previously identified and provided additional support/suggestions 
as necessary.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
No

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
Yes – the agreed action plan made specific reference to expanding the way in 
which the council promotes its job vacancies with a view to ensuring these are 
visible for all community groups within the borough

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Crime and Disorder There are no crime and disorder implications resulting from this report.

Digital and website 
implications

There are no specific digital and website implications resulting from the report.  

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no safeguarding children and vulnerable adults implications resulting 
from this report.

Page 30

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


A
ppendix O

ne

LGA Peer Challenge – Follow-up Review
- Revised Action Plan

RECOMMENDATION 1
Embed regular Cabinet and Management Team joint working by creating time and space for discussion on strategy, expectations and key 
issues. For example, more joint meetings and away days

Action Responsible Officer Timeframe Update

1. Implement a calendar of away days to 
focus on corporate projects as a 
Leadership Team (six-monthly).
October 2019 Action Plan Item
This action has been brought forward from 
the previous action plan.  

Chief Executive COMPLETE The first Cabinet Away-Day took place on 21 
October 2021 and a further Away Day was held in 
February 2022.
At the first Away Day it was agreed to have future 
follow-up away days geared around specific topic 
areas.  The first in February 2022 focussed on 
Housing Services.  Future topic-based sessions will 
follow throughout 2022-23.

RECOMMENDATION 2
Introduce a clear improvement plan for Planning, which is jointly developed and owned by Cabinet and Management Team, to establish 
clear targets and deadlines for improvement. This should include member training about their role in planning, inviting in the Planning Advisory 
Service (PAS) and improving processes and procedures

Action Responsible Officer Timeframe Update

P
age 31



RECOMMENDATION 2
Introduce a clear improvement plan for Planning, which is jointly developed and owned by Cabinet and Management Team, to establish 
clear targets and deadlines for improvement. This should include member training about their role in planning, inviting in the Planning Advisory 
Service (PAS) and improving processes and procedures

Action Responsible Officer Timeframe Update

2. Develop a service improvement plan as 
part of the internal business process 
review process and include provisions for 
subsequent monitoring and review.
October 2019 Action Plan Item 
This action has been brought forward from 
the previous action plan.  This was 
however further emphasised in the follow-
up review with the need to ensure that this 
is seen as a strategic priority, ensuring 
both senior management and the Cabinet 
have responsibility for the overall 
improvement plan

Director 
(Environment) and 
Deputy Chief 
Executive

March 2022 A draft Service Plan Improvement Plan has been 
prepared and is being reviewed by the Director 
(Environment) and Deputy Chief Executive.
Progress against the actions in the Plan will be 
monitored on a monthly basis through the through 1 
to 1 meetings between the Director (Environment) 
and Deputy Chief Executive and the Assistant 
Director (Planning) and also through the monthly 
Planning Management Team Meetings involving the 
senior managers within Planning Services.  

3. Proceed with a Gateway Review of the 
Local Plan as a matter of urgency, and 
ensure completion of the Local Plan.
September 2021 Action Plan Item
This is a new action identified through the 
follow-up review process

Director 
(Environment) and 
Deputy Chief 
Executive

COMPLETE The Gateway Review of the Local Plan by the 
Planning Advisory Service (PAS) has been 
completed.  The Local Plan timetable has had to be 
rescheduled to take account of factors beyond the 
control of GBC and progress is being made in 
accordance with the revised timetable.

P
age 32



RECOMMENDATION 3
Develop greater partnership working. Gravesham has been very self-sufficient, but to tackle some of the bigger issues it needs to develop 
greater partnership working to deliver on key priorities such as housing.

Action Responsible Officer Timeframe Update

4. Ensure a dedicated grants/bidding 
resource is in place to assist the 
progression of projects, both internally and 
with partners, in terms of sourcing grant-
funding opportunities.
October 2019 Action Plan Item 
This action has been brought forward from 
the previous action plan.

Chief Executive COMPLETE The council recruited to the Funding Officer post in 
August 2021.  Since this time, the officer has been 
supporting the council in delivering its initiatives in 
response to the Economic Stimulus package 
approved by council, in particular the Welcome Back 
fund.

5. Implement an approach to ensure partners 
are fully aware of the council’s strategic 
priorities and long-term plans, and ensure 
they are fully engaged in the delivery of 
council priorities wherever possible.
September 2021 Action Plan Item 
Whilst not a specific recommendation 
within the follow-um report, it was felt that 
this was an area for further development 
by the council and as such, a new action 
has been included within the action plan.

Chief Executive COMPLETE The Chief Executive and Leader have put in place a 
number of periodic meetings/ discussions with 
strategic partners of the Council to ensure that those 
partners are aligned with the Council’s own priorities, 
opportunities are maximised to promote the work 
being undertaken by the Council and support is 
sought where that is required to help move projects 
forward.  Notable examples of such strategic 
partners are Homes England, Lower Thames 
Crossing, and key developers within the Borough.

P
age 33



RECOMMENDATION 4
Seize on the cross-party consensus on the need for the Council to be pro-active in relation to housing delivery in Gravesham, including 
putting its argument strongly to government

Action Responsible Officer Timeframe Update

6. Improved liaison with the Kent and 
Medway Economic Partnership (KMEP), 
and the South East Local Enterprise 
Partnership (LEP) to ensure a stronger 
focus on Gravesham and the growth areas 
within Kent. 
October 2019 Action Plan Item 
This action has been brought forward from 
the previous action plan.  A piece of work 
is underway to set the economic context of 
Gravesham relative to the South East 
Local Enterprise Partnership (SELEP) and 
the Kent and Medway Economic 
Partnership (KEMP).  It is considered that 
this piece of work will set the foundations 
for Gravesham and the ability to leverage 
greater funding and support for 
Gravesham from relevant associations.

Chief Executive 
Director 
(Communities) 

May 2022 Economic Growth Strategy in place June 2020.
This work is underway and the Council has 
commissioned a piece of work entitled “Making the 
Case for Gravesham” which sets out the economic 
and social demographic case for investment in 
Gravesham by such bodies.
Information gleaned from that exercise has already 
helped to support a successful LEP bid for funding 
towards a new arts and cultural centre, and also an 
unsuccessful bid for Levelling Up funding towards a 
major Town Centre regeneration bid, however it is 
hoped the learning from that process will improve 
the Council’s chances of success moving forwards.

7. Liaison with the Kent Developers Group to 
forge stronger relationships with 
developers across the county by hosting a 
Group session and engaging with the 
private sector.
October 2019 Action Plan Item 
This action has been brought forward from 
the previous action plan.  

Director 
(Environment) and 
Deputy Chief 
Executive

COMPLETE A meeting has been held with the Kent Housing & 
Developers Group where GBC Officers had the main 
agenda item.  GBC’s Planning and Regeneration 
Plans were presented to KHDG and this has paved 
the way for increased engagement and development 
of stronger relationships with Developers and other 
influential Regeneration bodies within and beyond 
Kent.

P
age 34



RECOMMENDATION 4
Seize on the cross-party consensus on the need for the Council to be pro-active in relation to housing delivery in Gravesham, including 
putting its argument strongly to government

Action Responsible Officer Timeframe Update

8. Consideration to be given the 
implementation of a Strategic Planning 
Forum to involve the Leader, Cabinet 
Member, Opposition Leader and Chief 
Executive to enable wider discussions on 
specific issues as required.
September 2021 Action Plan Item 
This is a new action identified through the 
follow-up review process

Director 
(Environment) and 
Deputy Chief 
Executive

COMPLETE As a precursor to the creation of a Strategic 
Planning Forum a series of meetings has been held 
with key Members in relation to the delivery of the 
Local Plan.  These meetings have been well 
received by Members and lay the foundations for the 
proposed Forum.  Details of how the Forum will 
operate to be agreed with the Leader.

9. Ensure all Members are briefed and 
understand the risks associated with the 
Local Plan, five-year land supply and 
Housing Delivery test.  Updates should be 
provided on a regular basis.
September 2021 Action Plan Item 
This is a new action identified through the 
follow-up review process

Director 
(Environment) and 
Deputy Chief 
Executive

April 2022 A series of meetings have been held with key 
Members to keep them up to date with the risks 
associated with the Local Plan and to provide an 
update on progress.  As well as the updates 
provided via Your Borough, more frequent updates 
on the Local Plan; five-year land, the Borough’s 
identified need, via the Government’s standard 
method, and associated risks will be provided to 
Members through the Members Bulletin and, as 
applicable, via committees such as the Strategic 
Environment Cabinet Committee.

P
age 35



RECOMMENDATION 5
Be a spokesperson for the area. The Council should put itself at the forefront of telling the story of Gravesham’s proud history, vibrant and 
varied heritage – creating a local ‘brand’ to unlock development opportunities and investments.

Action Responsible Officer Timeframe Update

10. Develop closer link between the Economic 
Development Team and the council’s 
Communications Team to ensure a ‘brand’ 
for Gravesham is developed.
October 2019 Action Plan Item 
This action has been brought forward from 
the previous action plan.  Work is 
underway in order to establish a ‘brand’ for 
Gravesham and the Communications 
Team have been working with the 
Economic Development Team to develop 
a detailed communications plan, including 
actions to promote the borough over the 
forthcoming 12 months.

Director 
(Communities)

December 
2022

A small group has been formed around the ‘brand’ 
for Gravesham and a promotional film has been 
commissioned which can be used for a number of 
audiences.
The Communications team will also be working on 
promotional literature to support the film going 
forward.

P
age 36



RECOMMENDATION 5
Be a spokesperson for the area. The Council should put itself at the forefront of telling the story of Gravesham’s proud history, vibrant and 
varied heritage – creating a local ‘brand’ to unlock development opportunities and investments.

Action Responsible Officer Timeframe Update

11. Build upon the work that is already being 
done in the areas of history, culture and 
tourism in the local area to boost the 
economy during the recovery period by 
ensuring this is communicated widely.
September 2021 Action Plan Item 
Whilst not a specific recommendation 
within the follow-up report, it was felt that 
this was an area for further development 
by the council and as such, a new action 
has been included within the action plan.

The Communications team is working with 
communities’ colleagues to publicise 
developments such as the St George’s 
Arts Hub, Estuary 2021, Fringe, etc and 
publicising relevant strategies.

Director 
(Communities)

COMPLETE The Tourism and Heritage strategy includes the 
following overall objectives:-
- To encourage more days visits and longer stays
- Increase the stock, quality and breadth of visitor 

accommodation
- Strengthen Gravesham’s visitor offer through 

supporting the opening of existing and new 
visitor attractions and developing ‘experiential’ 
tourism

- Enable the programme of festivals and cultural 
activity to appeal to visitors from beyond the 
borough

- To extend the effectiveness of Gravesham’s 
visitor information and promotion

- Strengthen local partnerships working between 
tourism and hospitality businesses and 
organisations

- Develop skills and work experience opportunities 
within the local tourism and hospitality sector 

- Value and co-ordinate the expertise, archiving 
and interpretation of Gravesham’s heritage 
towards a telling of Gravesham’s story

It is intended that the Tourism and Heritage strategy 
will complement the council’s Arts and Cultural 
Strategy and is consistent with the Council’s 
Corporate plan ambitions

P
age 37



RECOMMENDATION 6
Develop an induction programme for the new Chief Executive, which includes joint sessions delivered by the Leader and Chief Executive to 
cascade key information and expectations from the Corporate Plan to staff

Update from the Peer Challenge Team:
The team felt that the induction for the new Chief Executive went well and he has firmly and quickly established himself in this role.  The Chief 
Executive is respected by partners, officers and Members of the Council and has as such, no further actions are required in his area.

RECOMMENDATION 7
Review council policy for flexible working arrangements and ensure consistency of implementation. A synchronisation of the policies with 
the investment in the equipment to make this happen.  

Action Responsible Officer Timeframe Update

12. Develop a consistent, corporate approach 
to flexible working for the council as a 
whole in line with the action plan that has 
been developed in response to the 
council’s IiP assessment, ensuring this is 
communicated to all staff.  A new agile 
working policy is required, with staff 
engaged in the development of the policy.
October 2019 Action Plan Item 
This action has been brought forward from 
the previous action plan, although this was 
further emphasised in the follow-up 
review.  A new Agile working policy has 
been developed and a pilot will commence 
with effect from 1st October 2021 to the 
end of March 2022.  

Director 
(Communities)

April 2022 A Hybrid working policy pilot started on the 1st 
November 2021 to the end of March 2022, to enable 
the organisation to understand what works for the 
authority whilst working to a new policy.
At the moment all line managers are going through 
compulsory training around managing staff in this 
way and some amendments to the pilot have been 
necessary following recent government guidance 
with regard to Home working.  However, all the 
principles of the policy still apply.

P
age 38



RECOMMENDATION 7
Review council policy for flexible working arrangements and ensure consistency of implementation. A synchronisation of the policies with 
the investment in the equipment to make this happen.  

Action Responsible Officer Timeframe Update

13. Undertake a review of current office space 
requirements in order to determine if there 
is the potential for reducing the number of 
desks required and develop a more ‘hot 
desking’ approach for the workplace.
October 2019 Action Plan Item 
This action has been brought forward from 
the previous action plan. Upon completion 
of the Agile Working pilot, these proposals 
will be progressed further and plans for the 
new Civic Building will embrace the new 
flexible working arrangements that the 
council will have as an employer going 
forward.

Director 
(Communities)

COMPLETE In preparation for the new Civic Centre, work has 
taken place to establish the councils requirements 
going forward with regard to office space in the new 
Civic Building and our requirements during the 
interim period.

14. Ensure that M365 is rolled out across the 
council (officers and Members) as a 
priority, and improve the council’s 
telephony system to support agile working 
ensuring this is communicated to staff.
September 2021 Action Plan Item 
This is a new action identified through the 
follow-up review process.  Implementation 
of Microsoft 365 across the origination and 
the introduction of a new telephony system 
have commenced.

Director (Corporate 
Services)
Assistant Director (IT 
and Transformation)

COMPLETE

Telephony 
System – 23 
March 2022

The rollout of M365 has now been completed for 
both officers and Members.  Moving forward, there is 
a need to review the policies and guidance 
associated with the use of M365 to ensure a 
consistent approach.
Work has progressed significantly on the new 
telephony system. The project comprises of two 
elements – Corporate Telephony and Contact 
Centre. The setup, configuration, and user 
acceptance testing of Corporate Telephony has 
been completed. The setup and configuration of the 
Contact Centre is in progress. Go live cannot take 
place until both parts of the solution are in place and 
the revised go live date has been set for 23 March 
2022.

P
age 39



RECOMMENDATION 8
A more diverse workforce. The Council has a strong programme of engagement initiatives with its diverse community but there is a need for 
the Council to reflect that diversity within its workforce

Action Responsible Officer Timeframe Update

15. Explore the potential for introducing a 
jobs/career fair to the borough to not only 
open up the employment market across 
the borough but also the council’s specific 
requirements to the community.
October 2019 Action Plan Item 
This action has been brought forward from 
the previous action plan.  Due to the 
pandemic, a jobs/career fair has not been 
progressed and instead the council is 
exploring other ways to give young people 
future job opportunities.

Director 
(Communities)

COMPLETE The Economic Growth Strategy was agreed in June 
2020 and actions being undertaken to link local 
people with job opportunities.
At present a jobs/career fair to the borough is not 
being progressed, but the council is currently in 
discussions with the DWP about creating a Youth 
Hub within the Civic Centre which will act as a one 
stop shop for young people within the Borough who 
are seeking work, along with other information 
around housing, mental health support etc.

P
age 40



RECOMMENDATION 8
A more diverse workforce. The Council has a strong programme of engagement initiatives with its diverse community but there is a need for 
the Council to reflect that diversity within its workforce

Action Responsible Officer Timeframe Update

16. Review of person specification, 
apprenticeships and work experience 
opportunities to ensure they are as 
inclusive as possible.
October 2019 Action Plan Item 
This action has been brought forward from 
the previous action plan.  

Director 
(Communities)

COMPLETE A Kickstart co-ordinator was appointed in August 
and we currently have 19 Kickstart apprentices 
within the council and our target of 30 Kickstart 
apprentices will happen by the end of March 2022.  
The Kickstart scheme is working well for the 
apprentices and also for the council and one of the 
apprentices has already achieved a permanent 
position with the council.  In addition, we also have 
11 Apprentices working for the council.
We are reviewed our work experience offer and we 
have opened up applications for 2022.  The work 
experience on offer will be a mixture of office based 
experience, which will be spending time in a number 
of departments and will also involve the students 
completing a home based project to present at the 
end of the experience

P
age 41



RECOMMENDATION 8
A more diverse workforce. The Council has a strong programme of engagement initiatives with its diverse community but there is a need for 
the Council to reflect that diversity within its workforce

Action Responsible Officer Timeframe Update

17. Ensure a corporate approach to ensuring 
a diverse workforce both through 
recruitment and retention processes but 
also ensuring accurate and up-to-date 
information on the workforce is held by 
HR.
September 2021 Action Plan Item 
Whilst not a specific recommendation 
within the follow-up report, it was felt that 
this was an area for further development 
by the council and as such, a new action 
has been included within the action plan. 
The new GBC HR team will look to 
improve the information that we currently 
have in place and this work will be a high 
priority going forward.

Director 
(Communities)

COMPLETE Monthly reports are now completed by HR based on 
characteristics supplied on application forms, but it 
should be noted that this is still not a mandatory 
requirement by law, so candidates and new 
employees are not required to give all information 
and some people choose not to do so.
In addition, the council actively liaises with various 
community groups/channels to flag up recruitment 
opportunities to harder to reach communities. P

age 42



RECOMMENDATION 9
Communicate success more effectively. Utilise expertise of new Communications Team to develop a corporate approach to communications 
that enables the Council to sell its success to the public, partners and staff more effectively

Action Responsible Officer Timeframe Update

18. Explore the inclusion of measurable 
outcomes as part of the new 
Communications Strategy, including 
regular reporting on the KPIs.
September 2021 Action Plan Item 
Whilst not a specific recommendation 
within the follow-up report, it was felt that 
this was an area for further development 
by the council and as such, a new action 
has been included within the action plan.

There is a commitment to the evaluation of 
campaigns included in Communications 
Strategy and these being implemented

Communications 
Manager

COMPLETE The council’s adopted Communications Strategy 
includes a commitment to carry out evaluation of 
communications campaigns, with regular reporting of 
these to the portfolio holder.
The Communications Manager has attended a 
number of online webinars and reviewed other 
online resources re best practice and methods for 
measuring outcomes of campaigns, etc.
Future campaigns will be subject to regular or one 
off measurement depending on their duration.
Other members of the comms team will also be 
asked to attend online courses/webinars etc. so the 
knowledge required to measure campaigns is 
shared across the team.

P
age 43



RECOMMENDATION 9
Communicate success more effectively. Utilise expertise of new Communications Team to develop a corporate approach to communications 
that enables the Council to sell its success to the public, partners and staff more effectively

Action Responsible Officer Timeframe Update

19. Implement a process to enable a clear 
feedback loop so that information from the 
frontline reaches seniors management in a 
timely manner. 
September 2021 Action Plan Item 
Whilst not a specific recommendation 
within the follow-up report, it was felt that 
this was an area for further development 
by the council and as such, a new action 
has been included within the action plan.  
Working with colleagues in digital and HR, 
the Communications Manager is 
undertaking a review of the council’s 
internal communications. This action point 
will be incorporated as part of that review

Communications 
Manager

Spring 2022 This is being considered as part of a review of the 
council’s internal communications.
The Communications Manager is working with 
colleagues in the Digital Team on a review of and 
updating of the council’s intranet site to ensure it is 
fit for purpose and can be used for two-way 
communication. The intranet site is likely to be 
updated following the relaunch of the council’s 
corporate website.
Digital noticeboards have been installed in mess 
areas at Brookvale depot to share messages 
relevant to frontline staff and to highlight avenues for 
feeding information back up the chain to managers. 
Commissioning is taking place and the screens will 
be live by the end of March 2022.
The staff suggestion scheme is being refreshed and 
relaunched, including measures to feedback to staff 
on whether or not suggestions have been accepted 
and progress on implementation if they have. This 
will include suggestion boxes for use by staff without 
access to the intranet/email.

P
age 44



RECOMMENDATION 10
Review risk management. Risk management should be reviewed to include issues such as property investment strategy and non-delivery of 
key developments

Action Responsible Officer Timeframe Update

20. Engage with Zurich Municipal to review 
the council’s overall approach to risk 
management and implement any 
recommendations as required.
October 2019 Action Plan Item 
This action has been brought forward from 
the previous action plan.  

Corporate 
Performance Manager
Wider Management 
Team

COMPLETE As part of an overarching review of service 
governance, a new ‘showcase’ or peer challenge 
process has been implemented. 
Through this new process, managers will present an 
annual review of their services to the Corporate 
Management Team, compete with business plans 
and key project proposals for the financial year 
ahead.  
As an essential component of service planning, this 
new process will therefore enable key service risks 
to be further considered, reviewed and re-evaluated 
in line with the expectations of the Corporate 
Management Team, thereby delivering on the 
proposal by Zurich Municipal for an increased level 
of service risk scrutiny at a senior management 
level. 
This new approach to service planning, and 
specifically that for service risk management, was 
considered and endorsed through the 
recommendations of a recent internal audit.

Action Responsible Officer Timeframe Update

P
age 45



Action Responsible Officer Timeframe Update

21. Consideration to be given to updating the 
Corporate Risk Register to include risks in 
relation to the Local Plan, five-year land 
supply, Housing Delivery Test and IT 
Services and infrastructure.
September 2021 Action Plan Item 
This is a new action identified through the 
follow-up review process

Director (Corporate 
Services)

COMPLETE The review of the Corporate Risk Register has been 
completed, with outcomes being reported to Cabinet 
and The Finance and Audit Committee in March 
2022. The risks identified by the peer change team 
have been assessed but did not attract a high 
enough score to be included on the Corporate Risk 
Register as a main risk. These risks however have 
been included in wider corporate risks and where 
appropriate will be managed by the relevant service 
area.

P
age 46



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 21 March 2022

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Development of the Corporate Risk Register 2022-2023

Purpose and summary of report: 
This report informs Cabinet of the outcome of the annual risk identification and analysis 
exercise that has been carried out to assist in the development of Gravesham Borough 
Council's Corporate Risk Register for 2022-2023.

Recommendations:

Cabinet members are requested to approve the Corporate Risk Register that has been 
developed for 2022-2023, prior to it being presented to Council.

Key Implications:
Item Implications

Legal There is a specific risk within the Register, which highlights the 
potential issues associated with proposed legislative changes that 
may affect the council moving forward.  Senior Management are 
being kept up to date with legislative change to ensure that they 
are able to be fully aware of potential changes proposed to assess 
how these may affect the council. 

Finance and Value for 
Money There are no financial or value for money implications arising from 

the Corporate Risk Register itself.
‘Ongoing financial viability of the Council’ is one of the key 
corporate risks identified within the Corporate Risk register and a 
specific update against this risk is included within appendix two. 

Corporate Plan The council’s arrangement to identify, assess and monitor 
strategic risks contribute to the delivery of Corporate Plan 
Objective #3: Progress: drive service improvement and corporate 
governance. 

Climate Change N/A

Page 47 Agenda Item 9



2

1. Introduction and Background

1.1 Gravesham Borough Council pursues a forward-looking and dynamic approach to 
delivering services to the local community and in doing so, the council is exposed to 
risk both in terms of threats and loss of opportunities.  The council recognises that 
risks are inevitable and in practice, cannot be entirely avoided.  Resultantly, the 
council will tolerate a certain degree of risk when pursuing objectives, executing 
strategies and delivering services. 

1.2 Responsibility for risk management runs throughout the council and specific roles 
and responsibilities have been identified so that risk management is embedded in the 
culture of the council.  Finance & Audit Committee have responsibility for monitoring 
the effective development and operation of risk management through:

 Reviewing any changes that have been made to the Risk Management 
Strategy, prior to presentation to Cabinet for approval.

 Reviewing the annual Corporate Risk Register, prior to presentation to 
Cabinet for approval.

 Considering progress made during the year, in managing or mitigating 
risks contained within the Corporate Risk Register.

 Identifying potential risks for inclusion in the annual Corporate Risk 
Register.

2.         Risk Management Strategy 2022-23

2.1 The Risk Management Strategy sets out the approach that has been adopted by the 
council for identifying, evaluating, managing and recording risks to which it is 
exposed.  The primary intention of the strategy is to ensure that risk management is 
embedded into the daily operations of the council. The strategy recognises that good 
risk management will lead to good management, good performance, good 
stewardship of public money, good public engagement and ultimately, good 
outcomes for citizens and service users. 

2.2 In March 2011, it was agreed by Cabinet that the Risk Management Strategy would 
be reviewed on an annual basis and, where necessary, presented to Cabinet for 
approval if it was subject to updates and amendments resulting in material changes 
to the strategy. 

2.2.1 The Risk Management Strategy has been reviewed and there have been no 
substantial updates or amendments made to it.  The strategy will therefore not be 
presented for approval but is appended to the report as Appendix 1 for information.

3.     Desktop review of the corporate risk register

3.1 Prior to commencement of this year’s risk identification exercise, the Risk & 
Resilience Team (RRT) at Zurich Risk Services (ZRS), undertook a desktop review 
of the Council’s corporate risk register. Following completion of the desktop review, 
Zurich’s RRT made recommendations and observations with regards to:

 the presentation and format of the risk register; and 
 the articulation and the quality of risk information included in the register.

Page 48



3

3.3 In order to incorporate Zurich’s recommendations with regard to the presentation and 
format of the register, the risk register template has been amended to allow for:

 The inherent, residual and target risk scores to be seen on one line
 The corporate objective that each risk links to, to be recorded in the register.  

3.4 To ensure the articulation and quality of risk information included in the risk register 
is in line with Zurich’s recommendations, senior officers responsible for reviewing 
existing and new risks have been requested to:

 Consider how each risk will have an impact on the corporate objective it links 
to.

 Take a clean slate approach when analysing existing risks are to ensure they 
are assessed on an equal footing with new risks. This will also allow for 
existing risks to be sense checked, in order to establish whether or not they 
are still the main risks, if the descriptions are current and if the scoring is 
correct. 

 Provide clear information about what the Council is trying to manage. 
Information should include brief details of the specific event or situation (Risk) 
and what would make that happen (Trigger) as well as the Consequences.  

3 Draft Corporate Risk Register 2022-2023

3.1 In preparing the draft copy of the Corporate Risk Register for 2022-23, Management 
Team, Senior Officers and Members have been requested to provide details of 
existing risks that continue to score high and should be carried forward to the 2022-
2023 register and also to provide details of any new risks that should be considered 
for assessment and inclusion.

` Existing risks include;

1. Ongoing financial viability of the council.
2. Changes in national priorities and legislation.
3. Organisational capacity/resilience.
4. Cyberattack resulting in data breach or corruption of data.
5. Investment Risk.

            
New risks include;

1. Universal Credit
2. IT infrastructure is not updated to meet the needs of the organisation
3. Adoption and delivery of sound Local Plan

3.3 A Risk Identification & Analysis Assessment can be found at Appendix 2 of this 
report. The document details all risks that have been considered when producing the 
draft 2022-2023 Corporate Risk Register. 

3.3 All risks and the outcome of their assessment is summarised in the table and plotted
in the Heat Map below.

Table of Risks Assessed for consideration

Page 49



4

Risk Ref Risk Description
Inherent 

Risk
Residual 

Risk
Target 

Risk 
1 On-going financial viability of the council 20 12 9
2 Changes in national priorities and legislation 20 15 12
3 Organisational capacity/resilience 20 12 9
4 Cyberattack resulting in data breach or corruption of data 16 12 8
5 Investment risk 15 10 9
6 Adoption and deivery of sound Local Plan 16 12 9
7 Universal credit 15 6 9
8 IT infrastructure is not updated to meet the needs of the organisation 20 9 2

Risk Heat Map (Residual Risk)

3.4 The risks that have generated a “High” residual risk score and are above the 
council’s strategic risk tolerance level can be seen coloured in red and have been 
included in the 2022-2023 Corporate Risk Register.  These risks are listed below and 
are included within the draft register which can be found at Appendix 3. 

1. On-going financial viability of the council.
2. Changes in national priorities and legislation.
3. Organisational Capacity reliance.
4. Cyberattack resulting in data breach or corruption of data. 
5. Investment Risk.
6. Adoption and delivery of sound Local Plan.

3.5 Risks that have been assessed and have generated either a medium or a low 
residual risk score have not been included in the Corporate Risk register. However, 
these risks will be managed at service level. 

4. On-going monitoring of the Corporate Risk Register

4.1 Progress made against the actions in relation to each risk recorded in the Corporate  
Risk Register will be monitored quarterly by the Risk Management Working Group 
and progress information will be presented via a half yearly report to the Finance & 
Audit Committee.

4.2 This report and the draft Corporate Risk Register were considered by the Finance 
and Audit committee, at the committee meeting on 7 March 2022.

5. Background Papers

Page 50



5

5.1 There are no background papers to this report.

Page 51



Secondary Implications

Risk Assessment The regular review of strategic risks facing the council aids the council in managing 
risk effectively as a contribution to effective strategic decision-making.  It is 
important that the council’s approach to risk is reviewed on a regular basis by both 
officers and Members to ensure new risks are identified and action being taken to 
mitigate existing risks is effective

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
No

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Crime and Disorder The risk of Crime and Disorder is considered in the annual review and development 
of the Corporate Risk Register.

Digital and website 
implications

N/A

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

N/A

Page 52

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


Corporate Risk Register 2022-2023
Analysis of Risks

Page 1

Gravesham Borough Council’s Corporate Risk Register is the result of an annual strategic risk management exercise that is conducted to identify, analyse and prioritise those risks that may affect the ability of the Council to 
achieve its corporate objectives.  Finance & Audit Committee have responsibility for monitoring the effective development and operation of risk management within the Council and reviewing the Corporate Risk Register prior 
to its submission to Cabinet for approval.  This document should be read in conjunction with the report in which the outcomes from the annual risk identification exercise are presented.  
The following matrix is utilised when assessing whether a risk is a high, medium or low risk for the Council to help determine which risks should be included in the Corporate Risk Register and which risks should be managed 
at departmental level:

The Risk Matrix

Very 
High 5 5 10 15 20

High 4 4 8 12 16

Medium 3 3 6 9 12

Low 2 2 4 6 8

Very 
Low 1 1 2 3 4

High Risk 1 2 3 4
Medium Risk

Low Risk Negligible Significant Serious Critical

LI
K

EL
IH

O
O

D

IMPACT

The Corporate Risks that have been assessed for 2022-2023.

1 Ongoing financial viability of the Council
2 Changes in national priorities and legislation-
3 Organisational capacity/ resilience
4 Cyberattack resulting in data breach or corruption of data
5 Investment Risk 
6 Adoption and delivery of sound Local Plan
7 Universal Credit
8 IT infrastructure is not updated to meet the needs of the organisation

Likelihood
Rating Score

Very High 5 On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is almost certain that this 
issue will occur sometime within the next year.  The issue may have already occurred in 
previous years either at the Council or elsewhere.

High 4 On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is very likely that this issue 
or event will occur in the coming year.

Medium 3 On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members the issue is more likely to 
occur than not in the coming year. 

Low 2 On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is unlikely that this event will 
occur in the coming year.  Occurrences of this risk have occurred in the past but 
occurrences are very few and far between.

Very Low 1 On the evidence and knowledge that this event would occur in either the coming year or 
in future years.

Impact
Rating Score

Critical 4
The financial impact on the authority would critically threaten the Council’s financial 
stability.  The delivery of service to the public could be affected either permanently or for 
a long duration and the Council could not achieve its key objectives.  There would be a 
seriously damaging impact on the Council’s reputation through poor media coverage.

Serious 3

The financial impact on the authority would be serious although would not threaten the 
stability of the Council’s financial position.  Services would experience disruption with the 
delivery of services being affected for a number of days.  Whilst the Council’s objectives 
would be met there would be significant delays in achieving them.  The Council would 
endure poor media coverage for a period of time affecting the Council’s reputation which 
would take some time to recover from. 

Significant 2
There would be a financial impact on the authority however this would be manageable 
within the Council’s existing financial resources.  There may be disruption to services 
and possibly delays in achieving the Council’s objectives.  There may be poor media 
coverage which could affect the Council in the long term.

Negligible 1 There is little or no financial impact of the risk to the authority.  There would be no 
disruption to the delivery of the Council’s key objectives or frontline services.  It is 
unlikely that this risk will impact on the Council’s reputation.

The Risk Ongoing financial viability of the Council Risk No. 1

P
age 53



Corporate Risk Register 2022-2023
Analysis of Risks

Page 2

Link to Corporate Objective # Progress

Assessment Date January 2022

Cabinet Portfolio Leader of the Executive (but affects all portfolios)

Risk Owner(s) Director (Corporate Services); Assistant Director (Corporate Services)

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE TARGET  RISK SCORE
Likelihood  5 Impact  4 Score  20 Likelihood  4 Impact  3 Score  12 Likelihood  3 Impact  3 Score  9

Lead Officer (s) Target Date
Director (Corporate Services); Assistant Director (Corporate Services) March 2023

Trigger Consequences Mitigation / Control

Financial Challenges due to changes in government legislation and 
posed by the COVID-19 Pandemic, leading to increased financial 
pressure on the budget. 
Single year finance settlement for 2022/23 leaving uncertainty as to 
how local government will be funded in future years.
Central Government Finance reforms have been put on hold (fair 
funding review, business rates retention and future of new homes 
bonus).

 Difficult decisions around funding of services and quality of 
services compromised

 Inability to plan effectively for future years. 
 Traditional income generating activity has reduced (such as car 

parking income and investment income) as a result of the 
COVID -19 Pandemic.

 Council not being able to meet its statutory obligations due to 
lack of funding

 Uncertainty of funding for the authority and for future projects
 Changes in legislation have a negative financial impact on the 

Council.
 Impact on minimum reserve limits.

 Effective Budget Monitoring 
 Medium Term Financial Strategy in place
 Ongoing monitoring of the Medium Term Financial Plan
 Monitoring of changes in legislation by officers.
 Model effects of any changes in legislation and application 

of these to the MTFP
 Responding to Government Consultations

Key corporate documents and processes in place  Medium Term Financial Strategy
 Medium Term Financial Plan
 Budget monitoring process

P
age 54



Corporate Risk Register 2022-2023
Analysis of Risks

Page 3

The Risk Changes in national priorities and legislative change Risk No. 2
Link to Corporate Objective #People, #Place & #Progress

Assessment Date January 2022

Cabinet Portfolio All portfolios

Risk Owner(s) Chief Executive and Management Team

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE TARGET  RISK SCORE
Likelihood  5 Impact  4 Score  20 Likelihood  5 Impact  3 Score  15 Likelihood  4 Impact  3 Score  12

Lead Officer (s) Target Date

Chief Executive/ Management Team/Wider Management Team March 2023

Trigger Consequences Mitigation / Control

Changes in national priorities including National Significant 
Infrastructure Projects (NSIP).
Current proposals that affect the Borough are:

 Lower Thames Crossing (Gravesham)
 Thurrock Flexible Generation Plant (Tilbury)
 London Resort (Dartford, Gravesham)

Council may not have the necessary resources to deliver on key 
projects.
Projects may adversely affect local residents 

Circulation of monthly briefings to key officers
Working alongside other stakeholders and partner organisations 
to keep informed of developments such as:-

Local Government Association
District Councils Network
Kent Finance Officers Group
Kent Resilience Forum

Information sharing and gathering across all Council services
Change (s) in legislation / statutory duties imposed by Central 
Government such as

 Local Government Reform
 Levelling Up Agenda

Introduction of new statutory duties could
 Change the strategic direction of the Council
 Result in new statutory duties not being enacted leading to legal 

challenge
 Entail additional workloads for officers
 Move to an agile way, directing resources as required
 Increase scrutiny by members and the public
 change the way existing services are delivered
 increase financial pressures (discussed as part of risk 1)

Circulation of monthly briefings to key officers on proposed / new 
legislation
Effective business continuity planning
Regular updates to members on developments and potential 
changes in legislation
Preparation of workforce strategy
Co-ordination and sharing of information with other local 
authorities through various networks and forums.

Key corporate documents and processes in place  Corporate Plan 2019-2023
 Medium Term Financial Strategy
 Medium Term Financial Plan

P
age 55



Corporate Risk Register 2022-2023
Analysis of Risks

Page 4

The Risk Organisational capacity/resilience Risk No. 3
Link to Corporate Objective #People

Assessment Date January 2022

Cabinet Portfolio Deputy Leader (but affects all portfolios)

Risk Owner(s) Chief Executive and Management Team

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE TARGET  RISK SCORE
Likelihood  5 Impact  4 Score  20 Likelihood  4 Impact  3 Score  12 Likelihood  3 Impact  3 Score  9

Lead Officer (s) Target Date
Laura Lowrey June/July 2022

Trigger Consequences Mitigation / Control

External opportunities of agile and home working in light of the COVID 
pandemic is making it difficult to recruit staff, especially those in 
specialist roles.  

Increase in turnover resulting with a reduction in staff,
Specialist roles remain vacant for prolonged periods of time, placing 
additional pressures on staff in service areas which may already 
have stretched resources.
Increased agency costs 
Services areas with reduced staff will suffer a greater impact

A Hybrid Working Policy was introduced from 1 November 2021 
giving office based staff the opportunity to work from home, 
depending on the needs of the service.   Initiatives that have been 
introduced to ensure the Council remains competitive in order to 
retain existing staff and attract potential employees include:

 Increased availability of training for (including qualification 
training).

 Revisiting and improving advert templates and reviewing 
where vacancies are advertised.  

 HR and Managers working closely to ensure career 
progression is available within services. 

The introduction of a Management Development Programme
Overstretched resources resulting with reduced staff motivation, low 
morale and increased sickness and stress levels.

Council will be required to provide additional help and support to 
overcome problems.

HR continue to monitor the levels of stress and sickness absence 
within the Council and support line managers. When appropriate 
staff will be referred to Occupational Health and the Employee 
Assistance Programme. Other initiatives  in order to support staff 
wellbeing that have been introduced and will continue, include:

 Undertaking periodic Wellbeing surveys amongst the 
workforce.  

 Reviewing the format of the joint staff forum to ensure the 
whole workforce is represented at the meetings and includes 
a wellbeing item on the agenda.

 Undertaking weekly Webinars that are run by the Council’s 
Employee Assistance Programme.

 Reviewing and promoting the role of the Councils Mental 
Health Champions.

Continuing Investors in People reviews next one due in April 2022.
Staff (especially office based) experiencing difficulties in adapting to 
remote working

Increase in organisational stress negatively impacting productivity 
and mental health and wellbeing.

All line managers undertook training in November 2021 on 
Leadership Behaviours for Managing and Motivating Hybrid Teams.
The Hybrid Working Policy provides office based staff the 
opportunity to adopt a better work life balance.

P
age 56



Corporate Risk Register 2022-2023
Analysis of Risks

Page 5

Key corporate documents and processes in 
place

 Corporate Business Plan 2019-2023
 Workforce Development Plan

P
age 57



Corporate Risk Register 2022-2023
Analysis of Risks

Page 6

The Risk Cyberattack resulting in data breach or corruption of data Risk No. 4
Link to Corporate Objective Progress

Deliver a more resilient, creative, cost effective Council
Digital innovation
Successfully manage key business risks

Assessment Date January 2022

Cabinet Portfolio Leader 

Risk Owner(s) Director (Corporate Services) 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE TARGET  RISK SCORE
Likelihood  4 Impact  4 Score  16 Likelihood  3 Impact  4 Score  12 Likelihood 2 Impact 4 Score 8

Lead Officer (s) Target Date
Assistant Director (Transformation & IT) November 2022

Trigger Consequences Mitigation / Control

Member of staff falls victim to phishing attack The login credentials used by a member of staff is stolen enabling an 
unauthorised user to access and modify data and systems used by that 
person. In the case of a user with access to privileged systems this may 
also enable administrative access and the ability to move laterally between 
systems. The ultimate consequence could be a cyber-attack resulting in a 
loss of access to Council systems and data.

 Cyber awareness training for staff
 Use of strong passwords
 Use of multifactor authentication
 Separation of administrative accounts from general 

user accounts
 In 2022 a dedicated IT Security Officer post will be 

established which will coordinate all IT security activity 
across the Council and improve our security posture

Member of staff falls victim to “drive by download” A member of staff visits a website which has been poisoned with malware 
which automatically runs when the web page is viewed. The malware is 
able to access resources on the computer with the same level of access 
as the logged in user, or with elevated privileges if combined with 
additional vulnerabilities (such as unpatched software),  The ultimate 
consequence could be a cyber-attack resulting in a loss of access to 
Council systems and data.

 Use of web filtering software to control access to known 
high risk websites

 Use of antivirus software
 Use of non-administrative accounts when browsing the 

web
 Timely patching of software vulnerabilities
 In 2022 a dedicated IT Security Officer post will be 

established which will coordinate all IT security activity 
across the Council and improve our security posture

Misconfiguration of IT Infrastructure results in a breach An item of IT infrastructure is accidentally configured in such a way that it 
allows exploitation by an external actor to carry out a cyber-attack resulting 
in a loss of access to Council systems and data

 Policies, processes, and procedures for configuration of 
IT infrastructure

 Staff training
 In 2022 a dedicated IT Security Officer post will be 

established which will coordinate all IT security activity 
across the Council and improve our security posture

Brute force attack against IT infrastructure results in breach An attacker constantly attempts to gain access to Council systems via 
external infrastructure (web sites, email systems, vpn) in a systematic way 
with the hope of finding a vulnerability which will provide access to Council 
systems and data. Once access has been gained, the ultimate 
consequence could be a cyberattack resulting in a loss of access to 

 Regular review of IT defences (such as firewall rules 
and network configurations) to ensure they are 
operating effectively

 Regular scanning of IT infrastructure to identify what an 
attacker is able to see

P
age 58



Corporate Risk Register 2022-2023
Analysis of Risks

Page 7

Council systems and data.  Central recording of security incident logs which can 
identify when attacks happen

 In 2022 a Security Operations Centre managed service 
will be explored in order to provide 24/7 proactive 
monitoring of our IT environment and highlighting any 
risks for further action on immediate identification

 In 2022 a dedicated IT Security Officer post will be 
established which will coordinate all IT security activity 
across the Council and improve our security posture

Unpatched software vulnerability results in breach All software has the potential to have bugs and programming errors. 
Unpatched software means there are vulnerabilities in a program or code 
that the Council is aware of and will not or cannot fix. Bugs in software can 
be exploited to carry out tasks for which the software was not originally 
designed to perform, such as carrying out a cyber-attack.

 Only use software which is supported by the supplier
 Apply patches to software in a timely manner when 

notified by the supplier of a vulnerability
 In 2022 further systems and procedures will be 

explored for the automation of loading software patches 
to speed up the process and reduce the amount of time 
software is vulnerable

 In 2022 a dedicated IT Security Officer post will be 
established which will coordinate all IT security activity 
across the Council and improve our security posture

Denial of service attack prevents IT systems from being used The Council’s internet connections is flooded with a high volume of 
meaningless data which prevent legitimate data from getting through. 
Access to Council services for staff and members of the public is 
prevented and the systems appear to be down.

 The Councils internet connection provided by KPSN 
features a high level of Distributed Denial of Service 
protection from JISC (the internet service provider)

 In 2022 a Security Operations Centre managed service 
will be explored in order to provide 24/7 proactive 
monitoring of our IT environment and highlighting any 
risks for further action on immediate identification

 In 2022 a dedicated IT Security Officer post will be 
established which will coordinate all IT security activity 
across the Council and improve our security posture

Ransomware attack steals and then deletes Council data A malicious actor who has gained a foothold within the Council IT 
infrastructure is able steal large volumes of data before destroying access 
to that data for the Council. Staff are not able to access their systems or 
data and provide their services.

 Regular backup of data to systems that have 
ransomware protection and immutable storage

 In 2022 a Security Operations Centre managed service 
will be explored in order to provide 24/7 proactive 
monitoring of our IT environment and highlighting any 
risks for further action on immediate identification

 In 2022 a dedicated IT Security Officer post will be 
established which will coordinate all IT security activity 
across the Council and improve our security posture

Key corporate documents and processes in place  Business Continuity Plans
 IT Security Policies

P
age 59



Corporate Risk Register 2022-2023
Analysis of Risks

Page 8

The Risk Investment Risk Risk No. 5
Link to Corporate Objective #Progress

Assessment Date January 2022

Cabinet Portfolio Leader 

Risk Owner(s) Director (Corporate Services)

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE TARGET  RISK SCORE
Likelihood  5 Impact  3 Score  15 Likelihood  5 Impact  2 Score  10 Likelihood  3 Impact  3 Score  9

Lead Officer (s) Target Date
Director (Corporate Services), Assistant Director (Corporate Services) March 2023

Trigger Consequences Mitigation / Control

Investments do not perform as expected Investment income is reduced, negatively impacting on budget and the 
reputation of the Council which could impact on the delivery of services 
due to the loss of income.

External professional advice is sought on new investment activity 
such as from the Councils treasury management advisors and 
subjected to due diligence checks
Regular meetings with fund managers to ascertain how 
investments are performing.
Maintaining and reporting on the Council’s Treasury Management 
Strategy and Capital Strategy, which set out the criteria for 
investments
Regular updates to members and management team on 
investment performance.
Monitoring and review of treasury activity

Commercial property does not maintain the expected rental yield Reduction in income for the Council which could adversely affect the 
delivery of services due to lack of financial resources.

Close working between finance and property services to enable 
early identification of risks or opportunities to the Council’s 
investment portfolio.
Maintaining the commercial income protection reserve. Currently 
this reserve is set at 25% of annual commercial income.
Maintaining and reviewing the Property Acquisition Strategy and 
ensuring all commercial investments align with this strategy.
Development of a Commercial Income Dashboard.

Government intervention on investment activity for example potential 
changes to the Prudential Code and access to Public Works Loan 
Board (PWLB)

Council could be limited in its investment options going forward
Requirement to disinvest in some areas that are performing well to 
ensure compliance with the relevant codes and legislation.

Review of commercial property portfolio to ensure it is compliant 
with the Prudential Code and PWLB criteria.
Research other investment opportunities / income streams.

Key corporate documents and processes in place  Treasury Management Strategy
 Capital Strategy
 Property Acquisition Strategy

P
age 60



Corporate Risk Register 2022-2023
Analysis of Risks

Page 9

The Risk Adoption and delivery of sound Local Plan Risk No. 6
Link to Corporate Objective #Place

Assessment Date January 2022

Cabinet Portfolio Cllr Sullivan

Risk Owner(s) Director of Environment, Assistant Director (Planning)

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE TARGET  RISK SCORE
Likelihood 4 Impact 4 Score  16 Likelihood 4 Impact 3 Score  12 Likelihood  3 Impact  3 Score  9

Lead Officer (s) Target Date

Service Manager (Planning)
Assistant Director (Planning)

December 2023

Trigger Consequences Mitigation / Control

Local Plan is not up-to-date and not underpinned by a robust evidence base  Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) are required to have an up to 
date local plan in place by the end of 2023 or face government 
sanction / intervention

 If Government intervention:
o Reputational damage to the Council 
o The potential imposition of unwanted planning policies, 

causing an inability to deliver upon the Council’s that are 
dependent on the Local Plan

 Council less able to protect the Borough from inappropriate or poor 
quality development

 Service has taken up the offer of a PAS Local Plan 
Gateway Review which is an independent 
assessment of the risks and opportunities faced.

 The Local Plan is supported by a detailed project 
timetable / project plan that is used to control and 
manage the process, so far as that is possible and 
that this is periodically presented to Management 
Team for management update/monitoring purposes.

 There are risks which cannot be adequately 
mitigated because they are under the control of 
external organisations and the Council is reliant on 
those external parties for elements of the Local 
Plan. For example, updated transport modelling is 
required from Kent County Council in agreement 
with National Highways. This is outside of our direct 
control but essential for the plan.

Council is unable to identify a five-year land supply and fails the 
Government’s Housing Delivery Test

 Where councils’ cannot demonstrate a five year supply, national 
planning policy, rather than policies in a Local Plan have greater 
influence in decision making 

 National policy states there should be a “presumption in favour of 
sustainable development” for housing. This means that if a site can 
be considered to deliver ‘sustainable development’ then planning 
permission could be granted, even if there is no support from the 
council for housing in that location or the site sits outside the Local 
Plan. 

 Councils have less ‘control’ over where new homes are built: 
o May have to recommend approval of applications for sites 

they have not allocated 
o Increase in rejected proposals approved at appeal.

 Production of Housing Delivery Action Plan and 
implementation of the interventions identified within 
it

Key corporate documents and processes in place Housing Delivery Action Plan
Local Development Scheme

P
age 61



Corporate Risk Register 2022-2023
Analysis of Risks

Page 10

The Risk Universal Credit Risk No. 7
Link to Corporate Objective #People #Progress

Assessment Date January 2022

Cabinet Portfolio Performance & Administration

Risk Owner(s) Director (Corporate Services) and Service Manager (Revenues & Benefits)

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE TARGET  RISK SCORE
Likelihood  5 Impact  3 Score  15 Likelihood  3 Impact  2 Score  6 Likelihood  3 Impact  3 Score  9

Lead Officer (s) Target Date
Head of Revenues & Benefits; Assistant Revenues & Benefits Manager Ongoing

Trigger Consequences Mitigation / Control

Delay and uncertainty on Managed Migration of cases to Universal 
Credit (a number of delays announced by Department for Work and 
Pensions (DWP) – latest announcement stating that full roll-out 
delayed to September 2024)

Difficult to predict the resourcing requirements of the Benefits service Restructure of Revenues and Benefits Team undertaken January 
2022 – to be reviewed in 18-24 months

Drop in Housing Benefit cases as they migrate over to Universal 
Credit (UC) showing reduction in Council Tax Reduction (CTR) 
scheme cases

Those claimants who would be eligible for CTR not receiving a 
reduction on their Council tax account.

Rise in level of corporate debt specifically 
 Council Tax arrears, costs incurred due to court action and 

enforcement agent charges
 Rent arrears as payments made directly to the tenant, rather 

than direct to the rent account 

Increase in evictions/homelessness

Claimants suffer financial hardship

Use of Low Income Family Tracker (LIFT) application so more 
data intelligence available to identify, and engage with claimants 
where

 claims have ‘dropped off’ due to migration (or new claims) 
to UC

 claimants moving into financial crisis due to benefit 
changes / pandemic 

Proposed change to 2022-23 CTR scheme to accept a claim for 
UC as a claim for CTR

Liaison has continued despite the Covid-19 pandemic although 
remotely. Caseload & workload is closely monitored and reported 
monthly to management and Portfolio Holder. There has been 
significant benefit changes with good regular update bulletins. 
Job shadowing temporarily suspended due to the pandemic but 
will be resurrected as soon as practicable.

Decrease in Housing Benefit caseload but increase Universal Credit 
workload for service

May affect turnaround times thereby directly affecting claimants 
including vulnerable claimants

Recent restructure of service to build in anticipated resilience 
requirements.

Proposed banded CTR scheme for 2022-2023 will reduce 
number of changes which would in the past have affected claim 
amount
 

P
age 62



Corporate Risk Register 2022-2023
Analysis of Risks

Page 11

Trigger Consequences Mitigation / Control
Significant changes to the benefit system Delays in assessment of benefit claims

Complex changes requiring both legislative and systems knowledge
Maintain briefing arrangements for members and staff and 
provide regular updates of any changes.
Creation of a Service Change team within Revenues and Benefits 
to ensure  staff training, policy changes , system testing/upgrades

Continue signposting for claimants and potential claimants  – 
working closely with Job Centre Plus

Social Media messaging and website maintenance to ensure key 
messaging.

Key corporate documents and processes in 
place

 Service Plan
 Exceptional Hardship Policy
 Monthly reporting (to Senior Management and Portfolio Holder) of key performance indicators including caseload, speed of assessment, 

amount of Discretionary Hardship payment made, Council tax collection
 Quarterly performance report to Performance and Administration cabinet committee

P
age 63



Corporate Risk Register 2022-2023
Analysis of Risks

Page 12

The Risk IT Infrastructure is not updated to meet the needs of the organisation Risk No. 8
Link to Corporate Objective Progress

Deliver a more resilient, creative, cost effective Council
Digital innovation
Successfully manage key business risks

Assessment Date January 2022

Cabinet Portfolio Leader

Risk Owner(s) Director (Corporate Services) 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE TARGET  RISK SCORE
Likelihood  5 Impact  4 Score  20 Likelihood  3 Impact  3 Score 9 Likelihood  2 Impact  1 Score  2

Lead Officer (s) Target Date
Assistant Director (Transformation & IT August 2022

Trigger Consequences Mitigation / Control

Staff are unable to use IT facilities to effectively deliver their services  The Council is unable to deliver the commitments made in the 
Corporate Plan

 Staff are unable to work effectively (or work at all)
 Services (including those to the public) are either delayed or not 

delivered at all
 Loss of revenue due to lack of quality monitoring data
 Low job satisfaction amongst staff resulting in retention issues

 Effective Digital & IT strategy (to be published August 
2022)

 Effective Business Plan for Digital & IT Services
 Adequate investment identified for IT infrastructure
 Technical training for IT Staff
 Proactive contract monitoring is an area of improvement 

identified within the SOCITM review for implementation in 
2022/23

The public are unable to access IT facilities effectively in order to do 
business with the Council

 Low satisfaction with services delivered by the Council
 An increase in complaints
 Those most vulnerable and dependent upon our services are 

put at risk

 Effective Digital & IT strategy
 Effective Business Plan for Digital & IT Services
 Adequate investment identified for IT infrastructure
 Technical training for IT Staff
 Proactive contract monitoring is an area of improvement 

identified within the SOCITM review for implementation in 
2022/23

Use of outdated IT infrastructure presents a cyber-risk if the software 
is unpatchable

 A cyberattack can have far reaching consequences, including 
the theft and destruction of Council data which would prevent 
the Council being able to deliver its services for a protracted 
period

 Keep software and IT infrastructure up to date
 Do not use unsupported software and IT infrastructure
 Implement relevant security policies
 Implement relevant technical controls
 Maintain staff training and cyber awareness

Digital innovation not keeping up with current digital trends  Customers expect to be able to interact with the Council 24/7 
and at a time that suits them. If we don’t invest in the digital 
infrastructure and software, we risk falling behind customer 
demand.

 Investment in cloud infrastructure and continue to adopt a 
cloud first approach to software and hardware 
procurement

Key corporate documents and processes in place Corporate Plan
Business Plan (Digital and IT Services)
Digital and IT Strategy
IT Security Policies
Business Continuity Plans

P
age 64



Corporate Risk Register 2022-2023
Analysis of Risks

Page 13

P
age 65



T
his page is intentionally left blank



GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL

CORPORATE RISK REGISTER

2022-2023

Page 67



2 | P a g e

 
Gravesham Borough Council’s Corporate Risk Register is the result of a strategic risk 
management exercise conducted annually to identify, analyse and prioritise those risks that 
may affect the ability of the council to achieve its corporate objectives.  Key risks facing the 
council are identified through discussion with Cabinet Members, Finance and Audit 
Committee Members, Members, Directors, Assistant Directors, Service Managers and other 
senior managers

The risk management exercise establishes the severity of risks through the utilisation of the 
risk matrix below. The risk matrix is used to establish the inherent risk score, the residual 
risk score and the target risk score.

The Inherent Risk – The severity of the risk is determined before any controls have been 
introduced to reduce or mitigate the risk. 

The Residual Risk – The severity of the risk is determined after implementation of controls 
that reduce or mitigate the risk. The “residual” risk position is effectively the “tolerable” risk 
position which the Council is willing to operate given current constraints. It balances the 
funding position with objectives outlined in the councils Corporate Plan. 

The Target Risk – This is the “Optimal” risk position which the Council aims to reach 
through a combination of both improvements in existing controls and the introduction of new 
ones. This is informed by the Councils objectives detailed in the Corporate Plan.

The Risk Matrix

Very 
High 5 5 10 15 20

High 4 4 8 12 16

Medium 3 3 6 9 12

Low 2 2 4 6 8

Very 
Low 1 1 2 3 4

High Risk 1 2 3 4
Medium Risk

Low Risk Negligible Significant Serious Critical

LI
K

EL
IH

O
O

D

IMPACT

Page 68



3 | P a g e

Guidance used for assessing Likelihood and Impact

Likelihood:
Rating Score

Very High 5
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is 
almost certain that this issue will occur sometime within the next 
year.  The issue may have already occurred in previous years 
either at the council or elsewhere.

High 4 On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is very 
likely that this issue or event will occur in the coming year.

Medium 3 On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members the issue 
is more likely to occur than not in the coming year. 

Low 2
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is 
unlikely that this event will occur in the coming year.  Occurrences 
of this risk have occurred in the past but occurrences are very few 
and far between.

Very Low 1 On the evidence and knowledge that this event would occur in 
either the coming year or in future years.

Impact:
Rating Score

Critical 4

The financial impact on the authority would threaten the council’s 
financial stability.  The delivery of service to the public could be 
affected either permanently or for a long duration and the council 
could not achieve its key objectives.  There would be a seriously 
damaging impact on the council’s reputation through poor media 
coverage.

Serious 3

The financial impact on the authority would be significant although 
would not threaten the stability of the councils financial position.  
Services would experience disruption with the delivery of services 
being affected for a number of days.  Whilst the council’s 
objectives would be met there would be significant delays in 
achieving them.  The council would endure poor media coverage 
for a period of time affecting the council’s reputation, which would 
take some time to recover from. 

Significant 2
There may be financial impact on the authority and/or the cost of 
mitigating the risk could exceed the financial implications of the risk 
there may be disruption to services and possibly delays in 
achieving the council’s objectives.  There may be poor media 
coverage, which could affect the council in the long term.

Negligible 1
There is little or no financial impact of the risk to the authority.  
There would be no disruption to the delivery of the council’s key 
objectives or frontline services.  
There is no risk of this risk impacting on the councils reputation 

Page 69



4 | P a g e

All risks identified for 2022-2023 and their assessments are summarised in the table below 
and plotted in the Heat Map: 

Risk Ref Risk Description
Inherent 

Risk
Residual 

Risk
Target 

Risk 
1 On-going financial viability of the council 20 12 9
2 Changes in national priorities and legislation 20 15 12
3 Organisational capacity/resilience 20 12 9
4 Cyberattack resulting in data breach or corruption of data 16 12 8
5 Investment risk 15 10 9
6 Adoption and deivery of sound Local Plan 16 12 9
7 Universal credit 15 6 9
8 IT infrastructure is not updated to meet the needs of the organisation 20 9 2

The risks that have generated a “High Risk” score can be seen coloured in red and these 
have therefore been included in the 2022-2023 Corporate Risk Register.

Risk Heat Map (Residual Risk)

Very High 5 5 2

High 4 1,3,6

Medium 3 7 8 4

Low 2

Very Low 1

1 2 3 4

Negligible Significant Serious Critical 

LI
KE

LI
HO

O
D

Hig Risk

Medium Risk
Low Risk IMPACT

Given that the council works in an ever-changing environment it will be necessary to 
conduct similar risk management exercises on a periodic basis.  Progress against 
management actions recorded in the register will be reviewed on a six-monthly basis by the 
Finance and Audit Committee.   

As a contribution to good corporate governance, risk management also forms a part of the 
annual business planning process – each departmental business plan has a specific service 
risk register to identify the key risks facing that service.  This reinforces the corporate risk 
management approach through each Service Manager giving proper formal consideration to 
both corporate and operational risks.

Page 70



The Risk Ongoing financial viability of the Council Risk No. 1
Link to Corporate Objective # Progress An entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service improvement, underpinned by a skilled 

workforce and strong governance environment

Assessment Date January 2022

Cabinet Portfolio Leader of the Executive (but affects all portfolios)

Risk Owner(s) Director (Corporate Services); Assistant Director (Corporate Services)

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE TARGET  RISK SCORE
Likelihood  5 Impact  4 Score  20 Likelihood  4 Impact  3 Score  12 Likelihood  3 Impact  3 Score  9

Lead Officer (s) Target Date
Director (Corporate Services); Assistant Director (Corporate Services) March 2023

Trigger Consequences Mitigation / Control

Financial Challenges due to changes in government legislation and 
posed by the COVID-19 Pandemic, leading to increased financial 
pressure on the budget. 
Single year finance settlement for 2022/23 leaving uncertainty as to 
how local government will be funded in future years.
Central Government Finance reforms have been put on hold (fair 
funding review, business rates retention and future of new homes 
bonus).

 Difficult decisions around funding of services and quality of 
services compromised

 Inability to plan effectively for future years. 
 Traditional income generating activity has reduced (such as car 

parking income and investment income) as a result of the 
COVID -19 Pandemic.

 Council not being able to meet its statutory obligations due to 
lack of funding

 Uncertainty of funding for the authority and for future projects
 Changes in legislation have a negative financial impact on the 

Council.
 Impact on minimum reserve limits.

 Effective Budget Monitoring 
 Medium Term Financial Strategy in place
 Ongoing monitoring of the Medium Term Financial Plan
 Monitoring of changes in legislation by officers.
 Model effects of any changes in legislation and application 

of these to the MTFP
 Responding to Government Consultations

Key corporate documents and processes in place  Medium Term Financial Strategy
 Medium Term Financial Plan
 Budget monitoring process

P
age 71



6 | P a g e

The Risk Changes in national priorities and legislative change Risk No. 2
Link to Corporate Objective #People: a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and attractive borough their home.

#2 Place: a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking advantage of growth in the area, supported by its 
strong and active community.

#3 Progress: an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service improvement, underpinned by a 
skilled workforce and strong governance environment.

Assessment Date January 2022

Cabinet Portfolio All portfolios

Risk Owner(s) Chief Executive and Management Team

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE TARGET  RISK SCORE
Likelihood  5 Impact  4 Score  20 Likelihood  5 Impact  3 Score  15 Likelihood  4 Impact  3 Score  12

Lead Officer (s) Target Date

Chief Executive/ Management Team/Wider Management Team March 2023

Trigger Consequences Mitigation / Control

Changes in national priorities including National Significant 
Infrastructure Projects (NSIP).
Current proposals that affect the Borough are:

 Lower Thames Crossing (Gravesham)
 Thurrock Flexible Generation Plant (Tilbury)
 London Resort (Dartford, Gravesham)

Council may not have the necessary resources to deliver on key 
projects.
Projects may adversely affect local residents 

Circulation of monthly briefings to key officers
Working alongside other stakeholders and partner organisations 
to keep informed of developments such as:-

Local Government Association
District Councils Network
Kent Finance Officers Group
Kent Resilience Forum

Information sharing and gathering across all Council services
Change (s) in legislation / statutory duties imposed by Central 
Government such as

 Local Government Reform
 Levelling Up Agenda

Introduction of new statutory duties could
 Change the strategic direction of the Council
 Result in new statutory duties not being enacted leading to legal 

challenge
 Entail additional workloads for officers
 Move to an agile way, directing resources as required
 Increase scrutiny by members and the public
 change the way existing services are delivered
 increase financial pressures (discussed as part of risk 1)

Circulation of monthly briefings to key officers on proposed / new 
legislation
Effective business continuity planning
Regular updates to members on developments and potential 
changes in legislation
Preparation of workforce strategy
Co-ordination and sharing of information with other local 
authorities through various networks and forums.

Key corporate documents and processes in place  Corporate Plan 2019-2023
 Medium Term Financial Strategy
 Medium Term Financial Plan

P
age 72



7 | P a g e

The Risk Organisational capacity/resilience Risk No. 3
Link to Corporate Objective #People: a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and attractive borough their home.

Assessment Date January 2022

Cabinet Portfolio Deputy Leader (but affects all portfolios)

Risk Owner(s) Chief Executive and Management Team

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE TARGET  RISK SCORE
Likelihood  5 Impact  4 Score  20 Likelihood  4 Impact  3 Score  12 Likelihood  3 Impact  3 Score  9

Lead Officer (s) Target Date
Laura Lowrey June/July 2022

Trigger Consequences Mitigation / Control

External opportunities of agile and home working in light of the COVID 
pandemic is making it difficult to recruit staff, especially those in 
specialist roles.  

Increase in turnover resulting with a reduction in staff,
Specialist roles remain vacant for prolonged periods of time, placing 
additional pressures on staff in service areas which may already 
have stretched resources.
Increased agency costs 
Services areas with reduced staff will suffer a greater impact

A Hybrid Working Policy was introduced from 1 November 2021 
giving office based staff the opportunity to work from home, 
depending on the needs of the service.   Initiatives that have been 
introduced to ensure the Council remains competitive in order to 
retain existing staff and attract potential employees include:

 Increased availability of training for (including qualification 
training).

 Revisiting and improving advert templates and reviewing 
where vacancies are advertised.  

 HR and Managers working closely to ensure career 
progression is available within services. 

 The introduction of a Management Development Programme
Overstretched resources resulting with reduced staff motivation, low 
morale and increased sickness and stress levels.

Council will be required to provide additional help and support to 
overcome problems.

HR continue to monitor the levels of stress and sickness absence 
within the Council and support line managers. When appropriate 
staff will be referred to Occupational Health and the Employee 
Assistance Programme. Other initiatives  in order to support staff 
wellbeing that have been introduced and will continue, include:

 Undertaking periodic Wellbeing surveys amongst the 
workforce.  

 Reviewing the format of the joint staff forum to ensure the 
whole workforce is represented at the meetings and includes 
a wellbeing item on the agenda.

 Undertaking weekly Webinars that are run by the Council’s 
Employee Assistance Programme.

 Reviewing and promoting the role of the Councils Mental 
Health Champions.

 Continuing Investors in People reviews next one due in April 
2022.

Staff (especially office based) experiencing difficulties in adapting to 
remote working

Increase in organisational stress negatively impacting productivity 
and mental health and wellbeing.

All line managers undertook training in November 2021 on 
Leadership Behaviours for Managing and Motivating Hybrid Teams.
The Hybrid Working Policy provides office based staff the 
opportunity to adopt a better work life balance.

P
age 73



8 | P a g e

Key corporate documents and processes in 
place

 Corporate Business Plan 2019-2023
 Workforce Development Plan

P
age 74



9 | P a g e

The Risk Cyberattack resulting in data breach or corruption of data Risk No. 4
Link to Corporate Objective #3 Progress: an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service improvement, underpinned by a 

skilled workforce and strong governance environment
Deliver a more resilient, creative, cost effective Council
Digital innovation
Successfully manage key business risks

Assessment Date January 2022

Cabinet Portfolio Leader 

Risk Owner(s) Director (Corporate Services) 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE TARGET  RISK SCORE
Likelihood  4 Impact  4 Score  16 Likelihood  3 Impact  4 Score  12 Likelihood 2 Impact 4 Score 8

Lead Officer (s) Target Date
Assistant Director (Transformation & IT) November 2022

Trigger Consequences Mitigation / Control

Member of staff falls victim to phishing attack The login credentials used by a member of staff is stolen enabling an 
unauthorised user to access and modify data and systems used by that 
person. In the case of a user with access to privileged systems this may 
also enable administrative access and the ability to move laterally between 
systems. The ultimate consequence could be a cyber-attack resulting in a 
loss of access to Council systems and data.

 Cyber awareness training for staff
 Use of strong passwords
 Use of multifactor authentication
 Separation of administrative accounts from general 

user accounts
 In 2022 a dedicated IT Security Officer post will be 

established which will coordinate all IT security activity 
across the Council and improve our security posture

Member of staff falls victim to “drive by download” A member of staff visits a website which has been poisoned with malware 
which automatically runs when the web page is viewed. The malware is 
able to access resources on the computer with the same level of access 
as the logged in user, or with elevated privileges if combined with 
additional vulnerabilities (such as unpatched software),  The ultimate 
consequence could be a cyber-attack resulting in a loss of access to 
Council systems and data.

 Use of web filtering software to control access to known 
high risk websites

 Use of antivirus software
 Use of non-administrative accounts when browsing the 

web
 Timely patching of software vulnerabilities
 In 2022 a dedicated IT Security Officer post will be 

established which will coordinate all IT security activity 
across the Council and improve our security posture

Misconfiguration of IT Infrastructure results in a breach An item of IT infrastructure is accidentally configured in such a way that it 
allows exploitation by an external actor to carry out a cyber-attack resulting 
in a loss of access to Council systems and data

 Policies, processes, and procedures for configuration of 
IT infrastructure

 Staff training
 In 2022 a dedicated IT Security Officer post will be 

established which will coordinate all IT security activity 
across the Council and improve our security posture

Brute force attack against IT infrastructure results in breach An attacker constantly attempts to gain access to Council systems via 
external infrastructure (web sites, email systems, vpn) in a systematic way 
with the hope of finding a vulnerability which will provide access to Council 

 Regular review of IT defences (such as firewall rules 
and network configurations) to ensure they are 
operating effectively

P
age 75



10 | P a g e

systems and data. Once access has been gained, the ultimate 
consequence could be a cyberattack resulting in a loss of access to 
Council systems and data.

 Regular scanning of IT infrastructure to identify what an 
attacker is able to see

 Central recording of security incident logs which can 
identify when attacks happen

 In 2022 a Security Operations Centre managed service 
will be explored in order to provide 24/7 proactive 
monitoring of our IT environment and highlighting any 
risks for further action on immediate identification

 In 2022 a dedicated IT Security Officer post will be 
established which will coordinate all IT security activity 
across the Council and improve our security posture

Unpatched software vulnerability results in breach All software has the potential to have bugs and programming errors. 
Unpatched software means there are vulnerabilities in a program or code 
that the Council is aware of and will not or cannot fix. Bugs in software can 
be exploited to carry out tasks for which the software was not originally 
designed to perform, such as carrying out a cyber-attack.

 Only use software which is supported by the supplier
 Apply patches to software in a timely manner when 

notified by the supplier of a vulnerability
 In 2022 further systems and procedures will be 

explored for the automation of loading software patches 
to speed up the process and reduce the amount of time 
software is vulnerable

 In 2022 a dedicated IT Security Officer post will be 
established which will coordinate all IT security activity 
across the Council and improve our security posture

Denial of service attack prevents IT systems from being used The Council’s internet connections is flooded with a high volume of 
meaningless data which prevent legitimate data from getting through. 
Access to Council services for staff and members of the public is 
prevented and the systems appear to be down.

 The Councils internet connection provided by KPSN 
features a high level of Distributed Denial of Service 
protection from JISC (the internet service provider)

 In 2022 a Security Operations Centre managed service 
will be explored in order to provide 24/7 proactive 
monitoring of our IT environment and highlighting any 
risks for further action on immediate identification

 In 2022 a dedicated IT Security Officer post will be 
established which will coordinate all IT security activity 
across the Council and improve our security posture

Ransomware attack steals and then deletes Council data A malicious actor who has gained a foothold within the Council IT 
infrastructure is able steal large volumes of data before destroying access 
to that data for the Council. Staff are not able to access their systems or 
data and provide their services.

 Regular backup of data to systems that have 
ransomware protection and immutable storage

 In 2022 a Security Operations Centre managed service 
will be explored in order to provide 24/7 proactive 
monitoring of our IT environment and highlighting any 
risks for further action on immediate identification

 In 2022 a dedicated IT Security Officer post will be 
established which will coordinate all IT security activity 
across the Council and improve our security posture

Key corporate documents and processes in place  Business Continuity Plans
 IT Security Policies

P
age 76



11 | P a g e

The Risk Investment Risk Risk No. 5
Link to Corporate Objective #3 Progress: an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service improvement, underpinned by a 

skilled workforce and strong governance environment

Assessment Date January 2022

Cabinet Portfolio Leader 

Risk Owner(s) Director (Corporate Services)

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE TARGET  RISK SCORE
Likelihood  5 Impact  3 Score  15 Likelihood  5 Impact  2 Score  10 Likelihood  3 Impact  3 Score 9

Lead Officer (s) Target Date
Director (Corporate Services), Assistant Director (Corporate Services) March 2023

Trigger Consequences Mitigation / Control

Investments do not perform as expected Investment income is reduced, negatively impacting on budget and the 
reputation of the Council which could impact on the delivery of services 
due to the loss of income.

External professional advice is sought on new investment activity 
such as from the Councils treasury management advisors and 
subjected to due diligence checks
Regular meetings with fund managers to ascertain how 
investments are performing.
Maintaining and reporting on the Council’s Treasury Management 
Strategy and Capital Strategy, which set out the criteria for 
investments
Regular updates to members and management team on 
investment performance.
Monitoring and review of treasury activity

Commercial property does not maintain the expected rental yield Reduction in income for the Council which could adversely affect the 
delivery of services due to lack of financial resources.

Close working between finance and property services to enable 
early identification of risks or opportunities to the Council’s 
investment portfolio.
Maintaining the commercial income protection reserve. Currently 
this reserve is set at 25% of annual commercial income.
Maintaining and reviewing the Property Acquisition Strategy and 
ensuring all commercial investments align with this strategy.
Development of a Commercial Income Dashboard.

Government intervention on investment activity for example potential 
changes to the Prudential Code and access to Public Works Loan 
Board (PWLB)

Council could be limited in its investment options going forward
Requirement to disinvest in some areas that are performing well to 
ensure compliance with the relevant codes and legislation.

Review of commercial property portfolio to ensure it is compliant 
with the Prudential Code and PWLB criteria.
Research other investment opportunities / income streams.

Key corporate documents and processes in place  Treasury Management Strategy
 Capital Strategy
 Property Acquisition Strategy

P
age 77



12 | P a g e

The Risk Adoption and delivery of sound Local Plan Risk No. 6
Link to Corporate Objective #Place

Assessment Date January 2022

Cabinet Portfolio Cllr Sullivan

Risk Owner(s) Director of Environment, Assistant Director (Planning)

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE TARGET  RISK SCORE
Likelihood 4 Impact 4 Score  16 Likelihood 4 Impact 3 Score  12 Likelihood  3 Impact  3 Score  9

Lead Officer (s) Target Date

Service Manager (Planning)
Assistant Director (Planning)

December 2023

Trigger Consequences Mitigation / Control

Local Plan is not up-to-date and not underpinned by a robust evidence 
base

 Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) are required to have an up to 
date local plan in place by the end of 2023 or face government 
sanction / intervention

 If Government intervention:
o Reputational damage to the Council 
o The potential imposition of unwanted planning policies, 

causing an inability to deliver upon the Council’s that are 
dependent on the Local Plan

 Council less able to protect the Borough from inappropriate or poor 
quality development

 Service has taken up the offer of a PAS Local Plan Gateway 
Review which is an independent assessment of the risks and 
opportunities faced.

 The Local Plan is supported by a detailed project timetable / 
project plan that is used to control and manage the process, 
so far as that is possible and that this is periodically presented 
to Management Team for management update/monitoring 
purposes.

 There are risks which cannot be adequately mitigated 
because they are under the control of external organisations 
and the Council is reliant on those external parties for 
elements of the Local Plan. For example, updated transport 
modelling is required from Kent County Council in agreement 
with National Highways. This is outside of our direct control 
but essential for the plan.

Council is unable to identify a five-year land supply and fails the 
Government’s Housing Delivery Test

 Where councils’ cannot demonstrate a five year supply, national 
planning policy, rather than policies in a Local Plan have greater 
influence in decision making 

 National policy states there should be a “presumption in favour of 
sustainable development” for housing. This means that if a site can 
be considered to deliver ‘sustainable development’ then planning 
permission could be granted, even if there is no support from the 
council for housing in that location or the site sits outside the Local 
Plan. 

 Councils have less ‘control’ over where new homes are built: 
o May have to recommend approval of applications for sites 

they have not allocated 
o Increase in rejected proposals approved at appeal.

 Production of Housing Delivery Action Plan and 
implementation of the interventions identified within it

Key corporate documents and processes in place Housing Delivery Action Plan
Local Development Scheme

P
age 78



Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2022-2023 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Risk Management Strategy 
2022-2023

Page 81



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2022-2023 
 

Gravesham Borough Council 
Risk Management Strategy 

2022-2023 
 

1 Introduction 
 
1.1 Gravesham Borough Council pursues a forward-looking and dynamic approach 

to delivering services to the local community, in doing so the authority is exposed 
to risk both in terms of threats and loss of opportunities. (The table in Appendix I 
provides a brief outline of the major elements of risk to which Gravesham 
Borough Council could potentially be exposed).  The authority recognises that 
risks are inevitable and, in practice, cannot be entirely avoided; therefore the 
council will tolerate a certain degree of risk when pursuing objectives, executing 
strategies and delivering services.   

 
1.2 The council will consider risk in most of its activities and decisions.  Reports to 

the council’s Management Team and Members require risks associated with the 
decision being taken to be considered.  The council’s project management 
approach also recognises the need to identify, manage and monitor risks as a 
contributing factor to effective project management. 

 
1.3 To ensure the council’s risk appetite remains reasonable and does not exceed 

acceptable levels the authority has adopted a prudential approach to risk taking, 
whereby decisions are made within the parameters of the council’s internal 
control arrangements as set out within the constitution. In addition, to help drive 
continuous improvement and promote good risk management practices, a Risk 
Management Strategy has been developed which supports the following key 
systems: 

 

 Corporate governance 

 Community focus 

 Structures and processes 

 Service delivery arrangements 

 Use of resources 

 Standards of conduct 
 

 
 

Page 82



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2022-2023 
 

2 The aims & objectives of the Risk Management Strategy 
 

2.1 The purpose of the risk management strategy is to embed risk management into 
the daily operations of the council. Good risk management will lead to good 
management, good performance, good stewardship of public money, good public 
engagement and, ultimately, good outcomes for citizens and service users.  

 
2.2 The aim of the Risk Management Strategy is to: 
 

 Ensure the security of Council assets 

 Ensure the safety and well-being of Members, employees and service users. 

 Safeguard the reputation and image of the organisation. 

 Prevent litigation and criminal prosecution. 

 Prevent corruption, fraud and financial losses. 

 Minimize the overall cost of risk to the organisation. 

 Protect the quality of service delivered. 

 Manage organisational, political and technological changes. 

 Ensure the integrity of the organisation. 

 Ensure sound ethical conduct and probity.  
 

 
2.3  The objectives of the Risk Management Strategy is to ensure officers and  
        Members: 
 

 Adopt a logical and systematic approach to identifying, analysing, evaluating, 
treating, and monitoring and reporting all risks, associated with any activity, 
objective, function or process within which they become involved. 

 Evaluate the consequence and likelihood of risks to measure their severity. 

 Utilise the Risk Management Process and structure to minimise losses and 
maximise opportunities. 

 Manage to a reasonable level, all types of risk to which the organisation is 
exposed including Environmental, Financial, Strategic and Operational. 

 Be actively involved in using the risk management process to evaluate risks 
associated with Corporate and Service objectives including risks involved in 
failing to achieve these objectives. 

 Maintain at all times safe, places of work, systems of work, equipment, 
materials for work, together with a safe and healthy working environment.  

 Keep all work activities under review by carrying out regular risk 
assessments, internal and external audits so as to identify all matters likely to 
affect the safety of members, employees, service users, Partners, visitors 
and others, as well as the effective and efficient running of organisational 
processes.  

 Participate with other bodies including the Council’s insurers to develop and 
share risk management best practice.  

 Implement policies, procedures, preventative and protective measures 
information and training for employees and others based on the outcome of 
such risk assessments / audits, as are necessary to adequately control risk. 

 

Page 83



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2022-2023 
 

3 The importance of good risk management 
 

3.1 Risk management is considered the central part of an organisations strategic 
management. A robust risk management process can help create a culture of 
“no surprises” by enabling risks attaching to an organisation’s activities to be 
proactively identified, evaluated and appropriately treated thereby increasing the 
probability of success, and reducing both the probability of failure and the 
uncertainty of achieving objectives. The benefits of good risk management can 
be seen in illustration I. 

 
3.2 A robust risk management process will help raise awareness and understanding 

of: 
 
• the nature and extent of the risks facing the organisation; 
• the extent and categories of risks that are regarded as acceptable  
• the likelihood and potential impact of risks materialising; 
• the ability to reduce the incidence of impact on the organisation of risks that do 

materialise; 
• the significance of regular and on-going monitoring and reporting of risks 

including implementation of early warning mechanisms; 
• the cost of operating particular controls relative to the benefit obtained in 

managing related risks;  
• the importance of conducting, an annual review of the internal control systems 

that are in place; 
• the results that are reported from the annual review as well as the explanation of 

actions to be taken to address any significant concerns identified. 
 
 

Page 84



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2022-2023 
 

Illustration I  
 
The Benefits of Good Risk Management 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

         

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          
 
 

         
 
 
 

Achieve benefits 
& exploit 

opportunities 
enabling 

innovation 

 
Adapt to 

changes in the 
market and 

customer needs 

 
Achieve and 
demonstrate 

good 
governance  

Avoid Impact of 
Failure 

(perceived or 
actual) 

Support Value 
for Money, 
project and 

performance 
management 

 
Comply with 

legal and 
regulatory 

requirements 

Manage 
partnerships, 

suppliers’ 
contractors and 

on-going 
services. 

 
Control 

acquisition or 
development of 
new services. 

 
Maintain Service 

Provision 
through 

Adversity 

 
Manage external 

changes in 
culture, political, 
environmental 

etc. 

 
Achieve 

objectives / 
deliver 

services 

Page 85



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2022-2023 
 

4 The risk management process  
 

4.1 An annual strategic risk management exercise to identify, analyse and prioritise 
risks that may affect the ability of the council to achieve its objectives is conducted 
by the authority. There are a number of critical steps that are taken during the risk 
management exercise and these are as follows: 

 
4.2 Identifying risks 

 
Potential risks that may arise are identified by Members, Management Team, 
Wider Management Team and Service Managers, so that informed decisions can 
be made about policies and/or service delivery methods. They may be general, 
relating to the environment within which the council operates, or specific, relating 
to a key area of service delivery.  

  
4.3 Analysing risks 

 
Available data is used to provide information to help assess the likelihood of any 
risk arising or the potential impact on the councils activities. The council has 
introduced a risk matrix which is a numerical scoring system for analysing risks 
that have been identified by the council: (The risk matrix can be seen at Appendix 
II) 

 
4.4  Profiling risks 

 
Risks are profiled according to their likelihood and severity as follows: 

 
High risk  A total risk scoring 10 or above (red). 
Medium risk  A total risk scoring between 5 and 9 (amber). 
Low risk  A total risk scoring 4 or below (green). 

 
4.5  Prioritising risks 
 

Risks are prioritised based on the how the council decides to approach each risk.            
Control action is then determined based on tolerance and aversion to risk 
balanced against the availability of resources. 

 
4.6  Determining actions on risk 
 
      A course of action can then be determined based on whether the risk is to be 

Transferred, Tolerated, Treated or Terminated. 
 
4.7  Controlling risk 
 
      Once appropriate action is determined for each risk, the process of controlling 

that risk commences. This involves either Treating/Terminating/Tolerating or 
Transferring the risk and/or alleviating its potential impact. 

 

 

 

Page 86



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2022-2023 
 

 
4.8  Monitoring, progress reporting and recording risks 
 

Once risks have been identified, evaluated, their control action agreed and 
implemented, risks must be monitored and their progress should be formally 
reported so that: 
 

 The adequacy of control actions that have been implemented can be 
reviewed 

 Changes in the severity of risks can be promptly identified and reported  

 Additional action to further control escalating risks can be promptly 
undertaken 

 Actions being carried out to control risks in respect of strategies that have 
been executed, or objective’s that have been met can be terminated 

 Lessons can be learned for future risk assessments and decision making. 

 

4.10  All risks identified during the risk management process are recorded in either the 
Corporate Risk Register; and or individual Service Risk Registers.  The purpose 
of risk registers is to document:  

 

 Details of each risk, their severity and the monitoring and control actions that 
have been agreed to control each risk. 

 Details of person(s) who are responsible for monitoring and controlling risks 
and reporting on their progress. 

 Details of whether or not agreed controls are effectively  managing risks 

 Details of what additional control actions are necessary to ensure intended 
actions are being achieved  

 Details of any new and emerging risks. 
 
 
5 The roles and responsibilities of various key individuals and groups in 

relation to risk management 
 

5.1 Responsibility for risk management runs throughout the council.  Specific roles 
and responsibilities have been identified so that risk management is embedded in 
the culture of the council. (Table (i) in Appendix III shows the roles and 
responsibilities of various key individuals and groups in relation to risk 
management and Table (ii) shows the annual risk reporting programme) 

 
6 Links to Governance issues 

 
6.1 The following governance arrangements have been identified as having links to 

the councils Risk Management Strategy: 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 87



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2022-2023 
 

 
6.2   Systems of internal control 

 
To ensure departments operate in an efficient and effective manner Service 
Managers are responsible for ensuring appropriate processes and procedures 
that incorporate adequate controls exist and are followed thereby enable the 
authority to; 

 

 Comply with statutory and management requirements. 

 Safeguard assets. 

 Maintain accurate and secure records. 

 Identify and correct any errors, omissions or oversights. 
 

 
6.3 The council as a whole operates within a framework of policies and procedures 

intended to direct the activity of the council and ensure transparency in decision 
making. The Constitution forms the main spine of these arrangements and 
includes the council's financial procedure rules and contract procedure rules.  
Responsible officers are expected to ensure that effective internal control 
arrangements are incorporated into the design or development of systems and 
procedures. Such arrangements would include ensuring adequate segregation of 
duties, authorisation and physical security controls to protect the council from 
error, misappropriation or loss.  

 
6.4 Compliance with internal controls is reviewed by the council’s Internal Audit 

function.  Internal Audit is an independent, objective assurance and consulting 
function designed to add value and improve an organisation’s operations. It helps 
the organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined 
approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control 
and governance processes. 

 
6.5 Control environment 
 

The councils control environment comprises of its system of governance, risk 
management process and system of internal control these systems are designed 
to ensure:  

 

 Risk management is embedded into the activity of the organisation. 

 Achievement of the organisations objectives is established and monitored  

 Compliance with  established policies, procedures, laws and regulations  

 Staff are trained and equipped to manage risk in a way appropriate to their 
authority 

 Resources are used economically effectively and efficiently to facilitate 
continuous improvement. 

 Finances are prudently managed and reported. 

 Performance is effectively managed and reported. 
 

6.6 All managers are responsible for ensuring the councils objectives are delivered 
with proper controls in place and through the effective and efficient use of 
resources thereby providing value for money.  Controls are reported through the 

Page 88



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2022-2023 
 

Annual Governance Statement, to ensure that systems are delivering consistent, 
predictable and effective results in or to meet service or corporate objectives. 

 
6.7 Data Quality 
 
     The councils approach to delivering and improving data quality across the whole        

authority is outlined in the Data Quality Policy.  The policy demonstrates the 
council’s commitment to ensuring that all information retained or provided by the 
council is accurate, reliable and fit for purpose.  

 
6.8 Anti-Fraud and corruption 

 
The councils approach to all forms of fraud and corruption is detailed in the Anti-
Fraud & Corruption Strategy. The strategy is designed to 

 

 encourage prevention;  

 promote detection, and  

 support investigation  of fraud, bribery and corruption 
 

6.9 Whistleblowing 
 

The councils Whistleblowing Policy aims to ensure openness, probity and 
accountability by encouraging Officers and others, who have serious concerns 
about any aspect of the council's work, to come forward and voice their concerns 
within the council, without fear of reprisals, rather than overlooking a problem or 
“blowing the whistle” outside.  

 
6.10 Money Laundering 
 

In order to prevent the use of council services and personnel for money 
laundering, the council has developed an Anti-Money Laundering Policy that 
sets out internal procedures to ensure  

 

 Potential areas where money laundering may occur are identified. 

 All legal and regulatory requirements are complied with 

 Actual or suspected cases of money laundering activity are appropriately 
reported  

 
6.11  Business Continuity Management 
 

Service Managers are responsible for documenting Business Continuity Plans 
relevant to their service areas, so that critical functions and services can continue 
to be provided and there is effective recovery in the event of and following a 
disruption or catastrophic event. 

Page 89



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2022-2023 
 

Appendix I 

 

The two categories in which the range of risks facing Gravesham Borough Council can 
be placed into is Strategic Risks and Operational Risks. The table below provides a 
brief outline of the major elements of risk facing Gravesham Borough Council) under 
both categories 
 

Strategic Risks 
 
Operational Risks 
 

Political Risks; arising from changes in 
political control or significant policy changes at 
a national or local level 

Professional Risks: associated with the 
professional competence of Officers employed 
by the authority. 

 
Economic Risks: arising from changes in the 
economic climate 

 
Financial Risk: associated with inadequate 
financial planning resulting in lack of funding 
 

 
Social Risks: arising from unanticipated 
effects of changes in demographic, residential 
or social trends 
 

 
Contractual Risks: arising from the failure of 
contractors to deliver services to an agreed 
cost and quality specification 

 
Technology Risks: arising from unanticipated 
technological changes that might render 
significant investments obsolete or undermine 
key assumptions  
 

 
Technological Risks: arising from over-
reliance on IT and other operational equipment 
 

 
Legislative Risks: arising from legislative 
change at UK or European level placing 
significant new obligations on the authority. 
 

Legal Risks; arising from breaches of 
legislation 

 
Environmental Risks: arising from 
unexpected adverse environmental impacts on 
the council’s delivery of services.   

  
Environmental Risks: arising from pollution, 
noise or the energy efficiency of on-going 
service operations 
 

 
Customer/Citizen Risks: arising from 
unexpected changes in the needs and 
expectations of the public. 

 
Partnership Risks: where projects or activities 
are at risk of not being delivered effectively to 
cost or on time because of the complexity of 
partnership working or failure of a partner in 
some aspects of delivery. 

 

Reputational Risks: threat to the 
organisation’s reputation and public perception 
of service including its efficiency and 
effectiveness 

 
 
Physical Risks: fire hazards, lack of security, 
inadequate health and safety measures, etc. 

Page 90



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2022-2023 
 

 
 

 
Appendix II 

 
 
 
 
 
The Risk Matrix  

 
 
 
 

L
IK

E
L

IH
O

O
D

 

Very 
High 

5 5 10 15 20 

High 4 4 8 12 16 

Medium 3 3 6 9 12 

Low 2 2 4 6 8 

Very 
Low 

1 1 2 3 4 

High Risk 1 2 3 4 

Medium Risk 
Negligible Significant Serious Critical 

Low Risk 

IMPACT 

 

Page 91



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2022-2023 
 

Guidance used for assessing Likelihood and Impact   Appendix II 

 

Likelihood: 

Rating Score  

Very High 5 

 
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is almost 
certain that this issue will occur sometime within the next year.  The issue 
may have already occurred in previous years either at the council or 
elsewhere. 

High 4 
 
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is very likely 
that this issue or event will occur in the coming year. 

Medium 3 
 
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members the issue is 
more likely to occur than not in the coming year.  

Low 2 

 
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is unlikely that 
this event will occur in the coming year.  Occurrences of this risk have 
occurred in the past but occurrences are very few and far between. 

Very Low 1 
 
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is unlikely that 
this event would occur in either the coming year or in future years. 

 

Impact: 

Rating Score  

Critical 4 

 
The impact that the occurrence of this risk would have on the authority 
would threaten the council’s financial stability.  The delivery of service to 
the public could be affected either permanently or for a long duration and 
the council would be unable to achieve its key objectives.  There would 
be a seriously damaging impact on the council’s reputation through poor 
media coverage. 

Serious 3 

 
The financial impact on the authority would be serious although would not 
threaten the stability of the council’s financial position.  Services would 
experience disruption with the delivery of services being affected for a 
number of days.  Whilst the council’s objectives would be met there would 
be significant delays in achieving them.  The council would endure poor 
media coverage for a period of time affecting the council’s reputation 
which would take some time to recover from.  

Significant 2 

 
There would be a financial impact on the authority however this would be 
manageable within the council’s existing financial resources.  There may 
be disruption to services and possibly delays in achieving the council’s 
objectives.  There may be poor media coverage which could affect the 
council in the long term. 

Negligible 1 

 
There is little or no financial impact of the risk to the authority.  There 
would be no disruption to the delivery of the council’s key objectives or 
frontline services.  It is unlikely that this risk will impact on the council’s 
reputation  

 
 

Page 92



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2022-2023 
 

The roles and responsibilities of various key individuals and groups in relation to risk management  Appendix III 
 

Table (i) 
 

 
Cabinet & 
Members 

 
Finance & Audit 
Committee 

 
Management 
Team 

 
Service 
Managers 

 
Support 
Services 

 
Service 
Providers 

 
Risk 
Management 
Framework 
 

 
Review of the Risk 
Management 
Framework on an 
annual basis 

 
Provide independent 
assurance on the 
adequacy of the Risk 
Management 
Framework. 

 
Determine &  agree 
Risk Management  
Framework 

   
Provide advice &  
support 

  

 
Risk 
Management 
Strategy 
 

  
Review  the  Risk 
Management 
Strategy on an 
annual basis 

 
Review Risk 
Management Strategy 
prior to Cabinet Approval. 

 
Determine &  agree 
RM Strategy 

   
Provide advice &  
support 

  

 
Corporate 
Risk Register 

 
Determine & agree 
risks for inclusion in 
Corporate Risk 
register.                                  
Carry out Annual 
Review of the 
Corporate Risk 
Register. 

 
Identify risks for inclusion 
in Corporate Risk 
Register  
Review Corporate Risk 
Register prior to Cabinet 
Approval.  

 
Determine &  agree 
risks for inclusion in 
Corporate Risk 
Register  

  
Identify risks for 
inclusion in 
Corporate Risk 
Register 

 
Provide advice &  
support 

  

 
Service Risk 
Registers 

     
Agree risks for 
inclusion in Service 
Risk Registers                 
Carry out annual 
review of Service 
Risk Registers 

 
Determine  risks 
for inclusion in 
Service Risk 
Registers 

 
Provide advice &  
support 

  

P
age 93



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2022-2023 
 

The roles and responsibilities of various key individuals and groups in relation to risk management                Appendix III  
 

Table (i)  
Cabinet & 
Members 

 
Finance & Audit 
Committee 

 
Management 
Team 

 
Service 
Managers 

 
Support 
Services 

 
Service 
Providers 

 
Step 1                                             
Risk 
Identification 

 
Identify Strategic 
Risks 

 
Discuss possible risks for 
inclusion in the revised 
risk register 

  
Identify Strategic &  
cross service risks 

 
Identify Strategic 
& Service risks  

 
Provide advice &  
support 

Maintain 
awareness of 
risks &  
feeding these 
into the formal 
processes 

 
Step 2                         
Risk Analysis 

 
Analyse likelihood & 
impact of  Strategic 
Risks 

   
Analyse likelihood 
& impact of 
Strategic & cross 
service risks.  

 
Analyse Strategic 
& Service risks 

 
Provide advice &  
support. 
Responsible for 
Core Functions of 
Risk 
Management. 

Maintain  
awareness of 
the impact & 
cost of risks & 
feeding 
information & 
data 
into the formal 
processes 

 
Step 3                           
Risk Profiling 

 
Profile Strategic 
Risks 

   
Profile Strategic &  
cross service risks 

 
Profile Strategic & 
Service risks 

 
Provide advice &  
support  

  

 
Step 4                              
Risk 
Prioritisation 

 
Prioritising Strategic 
Risks 

   
Prioritise Strategic 
&  cross service 
risks 

 
Prioritise Strategic 
& Service risks 

 
Provide advice &  
support  

  

 
 
 

P
age 94



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2022-2023 
 

The roles and responsibilities of various key individuals and groups in relation to risk management                Appendix III 
 

Table (i)  
Cabinet & 
Members 

 
Finance & Audit 
Committee 

 
Management 
Team 

 
Service 
Managers 

 
Support 
Services 

 
Service 
Providers 

 
Step 5                       
Determining 
risk 
management 
Actions 

 
Determine actions  to 
transfer, tolerate, 
treat or terminate 
Strategic Risks 

   
Determine actions 
to transfer, tolerate, 
treat or terminate 
Strategic &  cross 
service risks 

 
Determine action 
on Strategic and 
service risks 
Delegate 
responsibility for 
control Ensure 
adequate service 
continuity plans 
are in place   

 
Provide advice &  
support  

  

 
Step 6                                   
Risk Control 

 
Determine control 
Actions 

   
Control risks by 
delegating 
responsibility   

 
Control Risks 
including those 
delegated by 
Management 
Team 

 
Provide advice &  
support, & control 
specific risk 
areas. 

 
Control risk in 
their jobs 

 
Step 7                                             
Monitoring &  
Progress/ 
Performance 
 Reporting 

   
Monitor the effective 
development & operation 
of risk management in 
the authority.  

 
Monitor progress 
on managing 
strategic & cross-
business risks &  
review the 
implementation of 
the Risk 
Management 
Framework, Risk 
Management 
Strategy &  Risk 
Management 
Process 

 
Monitor progress 
on managing risks  
Report to the 
departmental  
management 
team  

 
Provide advice &  
support  

 
Monitor 
progress on 
managing job 
related risks 
Report to the 
Service 
Manager  

P
age 95



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2022-2023 
 

 
The annual risk management reporting programme 2022-2023 
  
        
Table (ii) 

January 2022 Management Team to discuss and review the Risks 
identified and included in the draft version of the 
Corporate Risk Register for 2022-2023 

7 March 2022 Finance & Audit Committee presented with the 
draft version of the 2022-2023 Risk Management 
Strategy and Corporate Risk Register. Copy to be 
sent to Corporate Performance Team. 

March 2022 Draft version of the 2022-2023 Risk Management 
Strategy (if necessary) and Corporate Risk Register 
presented at Chief Executive Briefing  for review 

21 March 2022 

 

Cabinet presented with the final version of the 2022-
2023 Risk Management Strategy and Corporate Risk 
Register  

12 April 2022 Council presented with Annual Report on Strategic 
Risk Management (including Risk Management 
Strategy) 

September 2022 Senior Officers are contacted and requested to 
provide progress information relating to risks 
recorded in the 2022-2023 Corporate Risk Register  

November  2022 Finance & Audit Committee presented with mid-
year risk report. F&A are required to review and 
discuss progress information and consider any new 
risks that have been identified for inclusion in the - 
2023-2024 Corporate Risk Register. 

December  2022 Senior Officers requested to carry out risk 
identification exercise and consider control actions to 
be implemented to manage identified risks.  
Development of the draft version of the Corporate 
Risk Register for 2023-2024 commences. 

 

Page 96



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No 

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 21 March 2022 

Reporting officer: Pat Knight, Head of Revenues and Benefits

Subject: Support for energy bills – the Council Tax Rebate 2022/2023

Purpose and summary of report: 
To inform Members of the Council Tax Rebate 2022-2023 as part of the Governments 
announced package of support known as the Energy Bills Rebate.

To seek Member approval to delegate authority for the design and implementation of the 
Council Tax Rebate discretionary scheme to the Director (Corporate Services). In 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Performance & Administration. 

Recommendations:
1. Cabinet delegate authority to the Director (Corporate Services), in consultation with 

the Portfolio Holder for Performance & Administration, to develop a discretionary 
Council Tax Rebate scheme and associated policy, and to make the necessary 
arrangements to assess eligibility and determine award of funding to eligible 
households. 

2. Cabinet delegate authority to the Director (Corporate Services) to make any further 
technical amendments to the scheme where further government advice is issued and 
ensure that the Portfolio Holder for Performance & Administration is kept informed of 
any such amendments required. 

Key Implications:
Item Implications
Legal No apparent risk as the Council Tax Rebate will be administered 

through existing definitions and powers contained in the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 and subsequent regulations 
including :-

 The disabled band reduction scheme refers to reductions 
provided under the Council Tax (Reductions for 
Disabilities) Regulations 1992. 

 A chargeable dwelling is as defined at section 4 of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992. 

 Classes N, S, U and W are set out at article 3 of the 
Council Tax (Exempt Dwellings) Order 1992 (as amended 
by the Council Tax (Exempt Dwellings) (Amendment) 
Order 1993, 

Page 97 Agenda Item 10



2

 the Council Tax (Discount Disregards and Exempt 
Dwellings) (Amendment) Order 1995 and 

 the Council Tax (Chargeable Dwellings, Exempt Dwellings 
and Discount Disregards) Amendment Order 1997). 

Finance and Value for 
Money

Payment of funds allocated by Government to the council for the 
Council Tax Rebate will be reconciled against spend based on the 
eligibility criteria in the published guidance. Any overfunding of 
grant to billing authorities must be paid back to Government and 
any underfunding will be settled with billing authorities following 
the reconciliation.

Payment of funds allocated by Government to the council for the 
Discretionary Fund will be reconciled against spend as for the 
Council Tax Rebate. Any overfunding must be paid back to 
Government. However, the Government will not provide any 
additional funding which exceeds the allocation with any over 
funding 

Corporate Plan #2 People: Put our customers first; implement a suite of quality 
and effective frontline services accesible to all.

Climate Change N/A

1. Introduction

1.1 On 3 February 2022, the Government announced a package of support known as 
the Energy Bills Rebate to help households with rising energy bills, worth           
£9.1 billion in 2022-2023. This includes:

1.1.1 £200 discount on their energy bill this autumn for domestic electricity 
customers in Great Britain. This will be paid back automatically over the 
next 5 years.

1.1.2 A £150 non-repayable rebate for households in England in council tax 
bands A – D, known as the Council Tax Rebate.

1.1.3 £144 million of discretionary funding for billing authorities to support 
households who are in need but are not eligible for the Council Tax 
Rebate, known as the Discretionary Fund.

1.2 £144 million of discretionary funding for billing authorities to support households 
On 23 February 2022, the Government released guidance on the Council Tax 
Rebate 2022-2023 intended to support billing authorities, such as Gravesham, in 
administering the core scheme of Council Tax Rebate for households in bands A-
D scheme. The guidance also sets out the scope of the Discretionary Fund with 
suggested criteria which local authorities should have regard to when determining 
the awarding of support to other energy bill payers who are not under the terms of 
the core scheme.  

Page 98



3

2. Funding Received

2.1 A total £5,546,250 has been allocated to Gravesham Borough Council. This sum 
consists of the following :

2.1.1 £5,297,100 for the core scheme of Council Tax Rebate 2022-2023. This is 
equivalent of paying £150 to 35,314 households, which is required to be 
distributed to eligible households by 30 September 2022. Although , the 
original government announcement stated it would be paid in April 2022 

2.1.2 £249,150 for the discretionary fund. This is equivalent of paying £150 to 
1,661 households, which is required to be distributed by 30 November 
2022

2.2 The council will be required to comply with regular reporting requirements to the 
Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) on distribution 
of funds through the scheme. There will be reconciliation exercise in due course to 
confirm amount awarded from the funding received for both the Council Tax 
Rebate scheme and the Discretionary Fund.

3. The Council Tax rebate - eligibility

3.1 The government expects billing authorities to provide a £150 one-off payment to a 
liable council tax payer (or a person who would otherwise be liable where the 
property is exempt) for every household that occupies a property which meets all 
of the following criteria on 1 April 2022 :

3.1.1 It is valued in the valuation list on 1 April 2022 in council tax bands A – D. 
This includes property that is valued in band E but has an alternative 
valuation band of band D, as a result of the disabled band reduction 
scheme;

3.1.2 It is someone’s sole or main residence;

3.1.3 It is a chargeable dwelling, or in defined exemption categories:

3.1.4 ‘Class N’ Dwellings occupied students or college leavers or by spouses or 
dependants of students

3.1.5 ‘Class S’ Dwellings occupied only by persons aged under 18

3.1.6 Class U’ Dwellings occupied by the severely mentally impaired 

3.1.7 ‘Class W’; Occupied annexes

3.1.8 The person who is liable to pay the council tax (or would be were the 
property not exempt) is not a local authority, a corporate body or other 
body such as a housing association, the government or governmental 
body.

3.2 A property that meets all the criteria, but has a nil council tax liability as a result of 
council tax reduction scheme, will be eligible.

3.3 A property that has no permanent resident and is someone’s second home will not 
be eligible.

3.4 An unoccupied property (for the purposes of calculating council tax) will not be 
eligible.

Page 99



4

4. The Discretionary Fund

4.1 The Guidance advises that Councils can determine locally how best to make use 
of this funding to provide payments to other households who are energy bill 
payers but not covered by the Council Tax Rebate. This could include households 
living in property valued in bands E – H (currently 6,463 properties) that are on 
income related benefits such as Council Tax Reduction (currently 233 claimants in 
bands E-H) or those where the energy bills payers are not liable for council tax.

4.2 Given the speed with which the council is required to act, delegated authority is 
sought to be given to the Director (Corporate Services) to develop a Discretionary 
Fund Scheme and associated policy, and to make the necessary arrangements to 
assess eligibility and determine award of funding to eligible businesses. 

5. Council Tax billing, communication and payments

5.1 The Council Tax (Demand Notices and Reduction Schemes) (England) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2022 came into force on 12 February 2022. The 
regulations require the following explanatory sentence to be included in council 
tax demand notices (bills) issued to households in respect of 1 April 2022: “The 
Government is providing a £150 one-off Energy Bills Rebate for most households 
in council tax bands A-D”. The government has also provided an information 
leaflet, which will accompany all annual bills. 

5.2 The service will work closely with the Communications team, Digital Team and 
Customer Services to ensure that households are provided with clear and timely 
information about the Council Tax Rebate scheme and Discretionary Fund.  

5.3 Where the council holds live direct debit instructions for a liable council taxpayer 
of an eligible household, the guidance states that an automatic payment should be 
made as early as possible in the 2022-23 financial year, provided that there is 
assurance that the household is eligible and the bank details have been verified. 
Where multiple residents of an eligible household are jointly and severally liable 
for council tax, and a council holds live direct debit instructions for that household, 
the full £150 payment will be made to the direct debit account. At the time of 
preparing this report, bank details were held for 20,285 council tax payers out of 
36,113 properties in band A-D in the Borough.  There has been press coverage to 
encourage Direct Debit take-up since late February.

5.4 Where the council does not hold live direct debit instructions for an eligible 
household, all reasonable efforts to contact the household will be made to make 
them aware of the scheme and invite them to make a claim. The service is 
currently determining an appropriate claims method, considering the software 
solutions available to them, but will include an option for residents who are 
digitally excluded, for example assisted applications by phone. As part of the 
claims process, councils can choose whether to offer £150 credit to an eligible 
household’s council tax account as a payment option. The service is currently 
exploring other various methods of making payment.  

5.5 The council is required to undertake pre-payment checks via Spotlight, the 
governments due diligence risking tool, prior to any payment, which is not 
awarded to a live direct debit holder.  

6. Appendices

6.1 There are no appendices. 

Page 100



5

7. Background Documents 

7.1 The following background documents were used: 

Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities Guidance 

Support for energy bills – the council tax rebate 2022-23: billing authority guidance

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-council-tax-rebate-2022-23-   
billing-authority-guidance/support-for-energy-bills-the-council-tax-rebate-2022-23-
billing-authority-guidance

Lead Officer: Pat Knight Head of Revenues and Benefits 

Email: Pat.knight@gravesham.gov.uk 

Page 101

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-council-tax-rebate-2022-23-%20%20%20billing-authority-guidance/support-for-energy-bills-the-council-tax-rebate-2022-23-billing-authority-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-council-tax-rebate-2022-23-%20%20%20billing-authority-guidance/support-for-energy-bills-the-council-tax-rebate-2022-23-billing-authority-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-council-tax-rebate-2022-23-%20%20%20billing-authority-guidance/support-for-energy-bills-the-council-tax-rebate-2022-23-billing-authority-guidance


6

Secondary Implications
Risk Assessment There are no perceived financial risks due to the core scheme funded by 

government. The discretionary scheme is a finite amount and will be monitored and 
reported to members and management to ensure no overspend. Any system 
upgrade financial risks will be mitigated by new burdens funding. It is envisaged 
that the system used in processing these payments will extensively use existing  
council systems. Any resource risk will again be mitigated by resilience support 
funded by new burdens funding. There is a perceived risk that any government 
changes to the current guidance will change the scope of the scheme(s). The 
service is signed up to relevant alerts and liaises with relevant professional bodies 
to ensure appropriate and timely action is undertaken.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
Yes personal data (council tax records including bank account details)

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
This will be undertaken once it is known whether any personal data will be held 
outside of the existing revenues and benefits system.

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
The core scheme may initially adversely impact those residents who are ‘asset 
rich but cash poor’ as based on council tax property bands. This will be 
considered when devising the discretionary fund scheme and utilise the Low 
Income Family Tracker to identify such cases.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A 

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Crime and Disorder Not applicable

Digital and website 
implications

The service will work with both the digital and communications teams to ensure that 
the scheme are widely publicised and hosted appropriately. 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

Not applicable

Page 102

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


1

Climate Change Advisory Board

Monday, 24 January 2022 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr John Burden (Chair)

Councillors: Harold Craske
Sarah Gow
Shane Mochrie-Cox
Diane Morton 

Stuart Bobby
Nick Brown
Sarah Parfitt

Chief Executive
Director (Environment) and Deputy Chief Executive 
Director (Corporate Services)

Daniel Killian
Simon Hookway        
Stuart Alford
Wendy Lane
Darren Everden
Nicole Arthur 
Danielle Lock
Vivien Farkas-Haholt
Chidi Ikediashi
Charlie Rogers

Director (Housing)
Assistant Director (Communities) 
Assistant Director (Operations)
Assistant Director (Planning) 
Assistant Director (Transformation & IT)
Service Manager (Housing Operations) 
Sport & Recreation Officer
Youth Climate Change Conference Advisor
Youth Climate Change Conference Advisor
Youth Climate Change Conference Advisor

Julie Francis-Beard Committee Services Officer (Minutes)

1. Apologies for Absence 

No apologies for absence were received. 

2. Minutes 

The minutes of the Climate Change Cross-Party Member Working Group meeting held on 
Monday, 18 October 2021 were agreed and signed by the Chair.

3. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made.

4. Gravesham Youth Climate Change Conference 

Vivien Farkas-Haholt and Chidi Ikediashi updated Members with what was discussed at the 
Gravesham Youth Climate Change Conference which was held on Wednesday 10 
November and discussed global, national and local issues.  

The key highlights set out by Gravesham Youth Climate Change Conference Advisors are 
as follows: 

Page 103 Agenda Item 11



Climate Change Advisory Board 24.01.2022

2

 Chidi Ikediashi spoke of his top 3 suggestions, and they were:  

o Reduce transport costs which would encourage more people to take 
public transport and reduce the number of empty buses running. During 
the Summer of 2021, the Reconnect Scheme was implemented which 
encouraged younger people to take public transport.

o More electric cars and electric car spaces, this will encourage people to 
use these facilities. Offering free parking whilst using the facilities will 
incentivise people to come into the town. 

o Eat Local / Eat Seasonal – eat locally will make a real difference, it will 
greatly reduce food miles. Encourage local food to reduce carbon 
emissions. Implement eco labelling on food to show how far the food has 
travelled. 

 Vivien Farkas-Haholt spoke of the conference and her top suggestions were: 

o The whole theme of the session was “think globally and act locally”.  
Vivien quoted a saying that John Aston, an ex-climate change officer for 
the Foreign Office gave “those in power and influence need to show 
humility in the face of views expressed by young people and combine 
their experience with the more authority of the young people to speed 
things up and get things moving faster”. Vivien said young people and 
children deserve to think past the year 2050. Give the young people the 
power to change. 

o Litter – this would be an easy change, add more bins in the borough.  
Reducing litter could encourage the community to keep the area clean, if it 
looks clean then it can be kept clean. 

o Recycling reward system – encourage more people to recycle. Implement 
more punishment for littering. This could be introduced not just with fines 
but maybe undertaking a community service or even attending an 
awareness course. 

o Fireworks – this is a huge problem in so many areas. There are 
alternatives to fireworks like laser or drone shows. Fireworks produce a lot 
of CO2 carbon emissions. A suggestion could be to issue a license to 
purchase fireworks. 

o Transport was one of the biggest issues that was discussed at the 
conference and the aim is to try and reduce transport costs. Currently the 
cost of public transport is too high, there are too many empty buses 
running and maybe reducing the cost of travelling could encourage more 
young people to travel during the summer (Reconnect) which worked 
really well last year. Maybe buses could move to hydrogen or electric and 
maybe introduce trams. 

 Also in attendance was Charlie Rogers and whilst he was not at the conference, he 
explained that he was at this meeting because he was active at his college on 
Climate Change issues.  Charlie highlighted the initiative of planting trees for Her 
Majesty’s Platinum Jubilee later this year. It could be a way of young and old working 
together to manage this crisis. This would improve the local environment and trees 
are the best cutter of carbon and will improve biodiversity.  

The Leader thanked the Youth Climate Change Conference Advisors for giving a 
comprehensive outline of their thoughts from the conference.  

Page 104



Climate Change Advisory Board 24.01.2022

3

Following questions and comments from Members, the following areas were raised:

 Cllr Mochrie-Cox informed the Committee that he had also attended the conference 
on 10 November. A summary of the conference had been sent to the Prime Minister 
and Cllr Mochrie-Cox is currently waiting for a response and will share with the group 
once it has arrived. There is recognition that everyone is responsible not just the 
council for climate change. This will require a change in the law and some initiatives 
Gravesham will be able to implement but others will be implemented by other 
organisations or partnerships.  

 Cllr Mochrie-Cox agreed with the Youth Climate Change Conference Advisors 
regarding the Reconnect scheme on the buses and how well received it was. It is due 
to finish in August 2022 so the county council will need to find ways to continue the 
scheme.    

 Cllr Mochrie-Cox also agreed how important Eat Local / Eat Seasonal is and Cllr 
Sullivan is working on an economic development plan with the Assistant Director 
(Communities) and some actions have been implemented.  

 Cllr Mochrie-Cox thanked David Meade, Danielle Lock and the Youth Advisors who 
all participated in the Conference. Young people have given us hope. It is all about 
working together but not all actions can be completed in one go. 

 Following from a question from Cllr Gow, Vivien explained there are multiple ways to 
educate young people about climate change with regards to what council is doing. 
Vivien has learnt a lot at school where there are posters, campaigns, visual changes 
and it would be good for officers from the council to go into school to explain exactly 
what they are currently doing regarding climate change. Chidi explained that it would 
be good for the council to come into schools, not just secondary schools but primary 
and infant schools and colleges. Charlie suggested grabbing people’s attention and 
maybe an interactive assembly. Opportunities that everyone can have to make a 
more sustainable world. 

 Cllr Morton asked what the plans were for the future on how the council could 
engage with schools. Recycling awards may already be in the pipeline. Vivien and 
Charlie suggested talking with young people and explaining the recycling process. 
Positive award mechanism could be an excellent approach going forward and it 
would encourage people to recycle more. Encouraging people to focus on the good 
things. 

 The Leader said he thought the rewards system was a good idea but not sure how it 
would be implemented. The Leader felt the council needed to encourage the young 
people and for them to educate their parents.

 The Leader explained that littering was a real problem in the borough. Charlie 
suggested if you handed in litter on a regular basis the person was given a card and 
the more litter/recycling the more stamps you receive, this could be beneficial for 
some kind of reward. For example, maybe money off shopping or loyalty cards. 

 If Councillors were doing regular litter picking at weekends the council could 
encourage young people and parents to come, support and partake.  

 Cllr Craske asked how the council could engage with the young people and Vivien 
suggested tapping into the passion of the young people for climate change, to show 
how much power the young people do have for their futures. Charlie suggested 
encouraging the older generation to work with the young people. Maybe a trial of an 
infant/primary school and a care home working together to explore their local park 
and swapping ideas. How people can care for the environment as well as caring for 
each other. Chidi suggested inviting the young people to future meetings and events 
and to listen to the council’s views and ideas. Keep educating and showing what 

Page 105



Climate Change Advisory Board 24.01.2022

4

could happen if we did nothing and change will happen. To have more exposure on 
the news, we have done more as a nation locally and nationally but there is more that 
can be done. 

 The Leader said this is a journey that we have to go on. We all have to push to make 
things change. We, as a council, are doing that but maybe we could do more. 

 Cllr Mochrie-Cox said this is not the end of the conversation, we need to continue. 
Whilst listening to the advisors, Cllr Mochrie-Cox explored an incentive idea – active 
citizenship. This is a central feature of learning currently in Scotland which supports 
young people in developing skills and knowledge to encourage participation in local 
communities. Where businesses can come on board and the council acts as the 
facilitator and is a way of incentivising young people. The advisors thought this would 
be a really good way of allowing young people that are passionate to have their say. 
There could be open discussions between business partners, local citizen 
partnerships and the council to improve the environment. It could be a way of starting 
to solve the climate change crisis but discussions with the collaborative could begin 
to solve other issues. 

 The Leader asked that officers take this idea forward. 
 The Director (Environment) and Deputy Chief Executive said that officers are already 

going into schools, talking to different age groups and getting them involved. He 
found that engaging in an interactive nature works well to encourage young people to 
realise their future. Officers could give technical information and evidence and 
answer any questions that the children may have on what happens to the waste in 
the borough. 

The Leader thanked the Youth Climate Change Conference Advisors for answering all the 
questions the Members put to them. 

5. Climate Change Action Delivery Plan 

The Assistant Director (IT and Transformation) presented to the Committee the draft Climate 
Change Delivery Plan. 

At the meeting of Full Council on 1 December 2021, the council adopted the Climate Change 
Strategy for the council for the period of 2022-2030.

As part of the Strategy, a high-level, strategic Delivery Plan was set out under three key 
workstreams: 

 Gravesham Borough Council – the organisation Focusing on how the council can 
change its own operations, and those of its employees, wherever possible to reduce 
the level of carbon emissions its produces. 

 Gravesham Borough Council – the housing provider Exploring opportunities to 
bring the council’s current housing stock up to a better level of energy efficiency 
standard where it is possible to do so; ensuring new council housing is built to a high 
level of sustainability and ensuring local planning policy reflects the need for the 
borough to consider energy efficiency in all developments moving forward.

 Gravesham Borough Council – the community leader It is clear that the council 
cannot directly affect all of the changes that are needed across the borough. 
However, in its role as a community leader, it can work with residents, community 
groups and partners to educate and support them in making changes which will have 
a positive impact on the level of carbon emissions in the borough.

Page 106



Climate Change Advisory Board 24.01.2022

5

There are currently officer working groups with representatives across all areas of the 
council that are working on these workstreams. The Delivery Plan is intended to enable 
measurement of the impact of actions where possible on carbon emissions, the amount of 
funding and resources that will be required and how challenging some of the actions will be 
to implement. 

The Leader commented on the table on page 7 and said how visually easier the figures were 
in the resource column to understand by using figures for how many members of staff would 
be required in certain actions and the £ to indicate the costs.  

Following questions and comments from Members, the following areas were raised:

 Cllr Mochrie-Cox discussed item 2.8.4 estate skip initiative and what a good idea that 
would be but how would it work in practice, how would residents use it properly and 
not abuse it. The Service Manager (Housing Operations) explained the council had 
been working closely with London organisations and housing providers on how they 
managed the scheme as they had been experiencing problems with fly-tipping on 
their estates. They use fobbed skips, it would be the same fob that allows them 
access in and out of property, and they have seen real benefits. 

 Another scheme would be swapping furniture and children’s toys. This could be a 
proactive community initiative. 

 Cllr Mochrie-Cox asked whether Youth Councils would be included in item 3.1.2 – 
engaging with local schools and both the Service Manager (Housing Operations) and 
the Assistant Director (Transformation & IT) confirmed they would be included. The 
council reviews regularly their actions and new initiatives will be added. 

 The Director (Corporate Services) responded to the Leader’s question about budgets 
and resources and where this money was coming from. The Director (Corporate 
Services) explained that, by way of example, analysis of works required to the 
existing housing stock had been estimated at £95m which the council does not have. 
The Government will need to address actions that were raised from the COP 26 
Conference in Glasgow and further conversations with the Government regarding 
funding would need to be had. The biggest impact would be people’s behaviour, we 
can put in all the infrastructure, but it all depends on people doing the right thing. 

 Cllr Gow mentioned that item 2.2.2 had no specific action. The Service Manager 
(Housing Operations) explained it should have said “create asset management 
strategy which has already commenced. 2.3.3 was also missing. The Director 
(Corporate Services) will re-circulate this document. 

 The Assistant Director (Transformation & IT) explained following a question from Cllr 
Gow as to whether baseline performance figures could be provided on some actions 
which were currently reported as N/A. The workstream groups are meeting on a 
regular schedule and the baseline figures which have not been supplied will be 
challenged.  Where a direct source of information may not be available, we may be 
able to obtain relevant baseline data from an indirect source. 

 Cllr Morton requested an update on how successful the Funding Officer was that was 
mentioned in 1.3.3 and 3.3.1. The Director (Corporate Services) explained that the 
Funding Officer joined in August 2021 and as discussed at full Council was initially 
focussing on assisting economic development in delivering support under the 
Economic Stimulus Package. In response to a further question, it was confirmed that 
it was intended to capture information on bids submitted and funding secured to 
demonstrate value for money from the role. 

Page 107



Climate Change Advisory Board 24.01.2022

6

 The Director (Corporate Services) responded to Cllr Morton’s question about the 
sharing of our HR services with Medway and whether it was value for money and 
said that the shared HR services were being re-evaluated but core functions were 
now being delivered by Gravesham officers. 

 The Chief Executive explained that during Covid-19 local councils had to bid for 
funding and funding opportunities through central government. Working with central 
government would require a lot of money to attain climate change. DCN are currently 
liaising with local authorities. 

 Cllr Gow suggested encouraging young people by explaining about the council’s 
activities especially in waste management and if there was a measure in letting 
schools know how much recycling they were producing. The Assistant Director 
(Operations) explained that some waste collections from schools are now undertaken 
via KCC Facilities Management Contract. The Council does collect from some school 
but does not report back about the recycling tonnage. 

 The Assistant Director (Operations) explained that the council has installed over 50 
‘recycling in the go’ bins across the borough especially in parks and local shopping 
parades to continue to make recycling part of people’s everyday lives. The council 
now provides 95% of the sheltered units with food recycling and working with the 
Service Manager (Housing Operations)’s team to provide a strategy on how we deal 
with waste on estates and introduce sustainable waste and recycling collections.  
There was a private block, Fisgard Court where the bin stores were not located in the 
best position and there were problems with fly tipping. Through working in 
partnership, a new enclosed bin store is being built and CCTV installed.  This will 
allow recycling to be added to the flats and reducing fly-tipping on the development. 

 Following a question from the Leader regarding what we are doing with our refuse 
waste vehicles, the Assistant Director (Operations) explained that the whole 
collection of waste will need to be reviewed in response to changes planned by the 
Government. A report from the Government, which was expected at the end of the 
2021, would explain the fundamental changes to waste management from 2023 
onwards.  Businesses will have to provide the same recycling provision as 
households. There are currently electric waste vehicles on the market that would 
collect standard waste specifications but they do not fit our current collection 
requirements. We will be considering renewing our vehicles in 2023 then 6-7 years 
after but it is currently too early to state whether electric or hydrogen vehicles will be 
best. 

 The Leader asked the Assistant Director (Planning) about the Local Plan and 
whether we could request developers to include greener spaces and more trees in 
their developments. The Assistant Director (Planning) explained that we have a Local 
Plan which includes policies on Climate Change covering sustainable development 
and design, including the Code for Sustainable Homes when Government was 
aspiring to zero carbon emission houses. Climate Change also covers coastal, fluvial 
and surface water flooding. The council has adopted guidance on replacement 
windows and doors which has multiple benefits as UPVC is not recyclable, is 
petroleum based and therefore is not a sustainable building product. As well as the 
Local Plan, the Government has been tightening what is required via building 
regulations and this is important as it sets a national requirement rather than varying 
between local authorities and it focuses on fabric first.  The Government has 
embedded the principle of Biodiversity Net Gain and it is worth understanding that 
delivering biodiversity net gain can sometimes be easier in a highly managed, fairly 
sterile agricultural area rather than biodiversity rich locations in the town. 

Page 108



Climate Change Advisory Board 24.01.2022

7

 Cllr Morton asked how the council saw the estate energy champions and staff energy 
champions working. The Service Manager (Housing Operations) explained that with 
the estate energy champions, we cannot just do this on our own, there is no point the 
council implementing changes if the tenants are not engaged in change. It is 
important that you have a voice on the estate and some changes may not work but 
some will. The council is looking at green spaces, community herb gardens and how 
tenants can be more involved. 

 Looking at training officers to be able to offer accredited energy advice and to 
support the energy champions.

 Reusing furniture and goods that are left behind from previous tenants, the council 
looks at using it in other areas and housing. The Assistant Director (Operations) 
explained the council has a project planned with the Elleanor Hospice with regards to 
house clearances but then Covid-19 has delayed the implementation of the project. It 
is something that the Council is still pushing for and as we come out of the pandemic 
the council will continue working with the hospice.  The council as part of the Kent 
Resource Partnerships is looking at future re-use projects with the Third Sector. 

 The Director (Corporate Services) explained that the council would be part of the 
next phase of the Solar Together project and, with the support of the 
Communications Team it was intended to raise awareness of the project through a 
10,000 direct mail shot and promotion through the council’s usual media outlets.  

 The Assistant Director (Communities) reported that Kent Invicta Chamber of 
Commerce has a project to undertake carbon emission audits for businesses and the 
Council will be working with them to promote this to local businesses.  We are keen 
to identify businesses which can act as exemplars for others.  

 The Assistant Director (Transformation & IT) explained more electric vehicle charging 
points are being installed in the borough. More charging points are being installed in 
Parrock Street carpark which are intended for use by (but not exclusive to) residents 
that do not have their own off street charging facilities at home. In addition to this, 
there is currently a shortlist of 10 new electric vehicle charge point locations in the 
borough.  Eight locations have been confirmed as viable and will be taken forward.  
The viability reports for the last two locations are expected shortly. A challenge with 
finding viable locations is whether the electrical infrastructure is sufficient to support 
the full range of electrical charging options, specifically fast charging and rapid 
charging. The council is investigating locations within the town centre to provide rapid 
chargers for taxi drivers but the electrical infrastructure has not been suitable at the 
locations surveyed so far. Three new locations have been identified and the viability 
report is expected to be received soon.

 Cllr Morton explained she had a discussion with an electric vehicle driver at Lord 
Street car park who was using the charge point but it would only charge to 70%. Are 
the charging points actually in the right location. The Assistant Director 
(Transformation & IT) informed the Committee that the council can only install 
charging points on our own land. However, as the community leader we can speak to 
other land owners (such as supermarkets and small industrial areas) and use our 
influence for a wider take up in those areas. 

 Cllr Morton requested a briefing note on how to use electric vehicle charging points 
and how they work. 

Resolved: Members were asked to consider and provide comments on the draft Climate 
Change Delivery Plan at appendix two, prior to it being finalised

Page 109



Climate Change Advisory Board 24.01.2022

8

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 9.10 pm

Page 110



Document is Restricted

Page 111 Agenda Item 14



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 113



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 133 Agenda Item 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 139



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 To sign the minutes of the previous meeting
	6 The Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund (SHDF) Wave 1 funding award
	7 Procurement of DSO Building Management Contracts
	Appendix 2 – Procurement Summary

	8 LGA Peer Challenge - Action Plan Update
	2. Appendix One  GA Peer Challenge Action Plan - Review February 2022

	9 Development of the Corporate Risk Register 2022-2023
	3b. Appendix 2 Risk Analysis Document
	3c. Appendix 3 Draft Corporate Risk Register 2022-2023
	Appendix 1 Risk Management Strategy 2022-2023

	10 Support for energy bills - the Council Tax Rebate 2022/2023
	11 Minutes of meeting of Climate Change Advisory Board
	14 Rosherville Business Plan 2022-25
	2. Appendix One - Rosherville Limited Business Plan 2022 - 2025

	15 Establishment of Rosherville Repairs & Maintenance Local Authority Trading Company
	2. Appendix One - Rosherville RM Business Case -FINAL


